Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you'll enjoy
the following benefits:

- Efficient, integrated PDF viewing
- Easy printing

« Quick searches

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8,
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.



http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html


SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DISTRICT
BoarD oF BDIRECTORS MIEETING

AGENDA

December 4, 2008, Regular Meeting
District Offices, 17081 Hwy, 116, Ste. B
Guerneville, California
6:30 p.m.

NOTICE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES: it is the policy of the Sweetwater Springs Water
District to offer its public programs, services and meetings in a manner that is readily accessible
to everyone, including those with disabilities. Upon request made at least 48 hours in advance of
the need for assistance, this Agenda will be made available in appropriate alternative formats to
persons with disabilities. This notice is in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (28
CFR, 35.102-35.104 ADA Title 1.

Any person who has any questions concerning any agenda item may call the General Manager or
Assistant Clerk of the Board to make inquiry concerning the nature of the item described on the
agenda; copies of staff reports or other written documentation for each item of business are on fite
in the District Office and available for public inspection. Al items listed are for Board discussion
and action except for public comment items. In accordance with Section 5020.40 et seq. of the
District Policies & Procedures, each speaker should fimit their comments on any Agenda item to
five (B) minutes or less. A maximum of twenty (20) minutes of public comment is allowed for each
subject matter on the Agenda, unless the Board President allows additional time.

i. CALL TO ORDER (Est time: 2 min.)

A. Board members Present
B. Board members Absent
C. Others in Attendance

fi. CHANGES TO AGENDA and DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICY
(Est. time: 2 min.)

iil. CONSENT CALENDAR (Est. time: 5 min.)
{Note: ltems appearing on the Consent Calendar are deemed to be routine and
non-controversial. A Board member may request that any item be removed from
the Consent Calendar and added as an “Administrative” agenda item for the
purposes of discussing the item(s}).

A Approval of the Minutes of the November 6, 2008 Board Meeting

B. Approval of Operations Warranis/Online payments/EFT payments/Construction
Warrants, and West America account activity

C. Receipt of item(s) of Correspondence. Please note: Correspondence recefved
regarding an item on the Administrative Agenda is not itemized here, but will be
attached as back-up io that item in the Board packet and addressed with that item
during the Board meeting.





V.

Vi.

Vil.

Viii.

) &

PUBLIC COMMENT: The District invites public participation regarding the affairs of
the Disgtrict. This time is made available for members of the public to address the Board
regarding matters which do not appear on the Agenda, but are refated o business of the
District. Pursuant to the Brown Act, however, the Board of Directors may not conduct
discussions or take action on items presented under public comment. Board members may
ask guestions of a speaker for purposes of clarification.

ADMINISTRATIVE

A Discussion/Presentation re the Russian River Biological Opinion. Presentet:
Pam Jeane, Sonoma County Water Agency (Est. time: 45 minutes)

B. Discussion/Action re 2008 Organization Meeting / Board Elections (Est. time: 20
minutes)

C. Discussion/Action re District Rate Study and Rate Case (Est. fime: 40 minutes)

D. Discussion re Water fluoridation (Est. fime: 10 minutes)

E. Discussion re Capitat improvement Plan (Est. time: 20 minutes)

F Discussion/Action re Approval of Resolution 08-22, Approving a Coniract with

Crystal Communications for use of Property on Mount Jackson for a Radio Tower
(Est. fime: 10 minutes)

G. Discussion/Action re Resolution 08-21, A Resoclution of Appreciation for the
Services of Board Director Susan Keach (Est. fime: 10 minutes)

GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT (Est. time: 15 min.)

CLOSED SESSION (None)

BOARD MEMBERS’ ANNOUNCEMENTS/COMMENTS
(Est. time: 5§ min.)

ITEMS FOR NEXT AGENDA (Est. time: 5 min.)

1. Cal Water Agreement
2. Rate Case
3. Capital iImprovement Plan

ADJOURN






SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DisTRICT <
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING :

MINUTES*

(*in order discussed)

Board of Directors Meeting
Regular Meeting (Rescheduled)
November 8, 2008

5:30 p.m.
Board Members Present: Wanda Smith
Victoria Wikle
Gaylord Schaap
Board Members Absent: Ken Mclean (arr. 5:37 p.m.)
Susan Keach
Staff in Attendance: Steve Mack, General Manager
Julie A. Kenny, Secretary to the Board
Others in Aftendance: Mike Gogna, District counsel
Jeff Duplicki, District counsel
Jim Quigley
Dan Fein

i. CALL TO ORDER

The properly agendized meeting was called to Order by President Victoria Wikle at 5:32 p.m,

fl. CHANGES TO AGENDA and DECLARATION OF CONFLICT
(5:32 p.m.)

{Mone.)

Hi. CONSENT CALENDAR (5:32 p.m.)

Director Smith moved that the items on the Consent calendar be approved. Director Schaap
seconded. Motion carried 3-0. The following items were approved:

A Approval of the Minutes of the October 2. 2008 Board Meeting

B. Approval of Operations Warrants/Online payments/EFT payments/Construction
Warrants, and West America account activity
C. Receipt of item(s) of Correspondence {None)

IV. PUBLIC COMMENT (5:32 p.m.)





Public comment was made by Dan Fein.

V. REGULAR ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS {(5:33 p.m.)
it was decided to defer discussion of ltems A., B., and C. until Director McLean arrived.

D~ (5:34 p.m.} Discussion re Identity Theft Prevention Program. The GM provided an
overview of this item. Discussion ensued, District counsel Mike Gogna provided further
background.

** Director McLean arrived at 5:37 p.m.

A, {5:48 p.m.) Discussion/Action re District Rate Study and Rate Case. The GM
introduced this item and made a PowerPoint presentation. Discussion ensued. Director
Schaap passed out an article from the Press Democrat, “Rohnert Park measure could
face court chalfenge” Nov. 8, 2008.

B. (6:35 p.m.) Discussion re California Water Company application for transfer of
water rights to the District; Discussion re District’s request for extension of water
rights. The GM provided an overview and status report for this item. Discussion ensued.
Public comment was made by Jim Quigley.

C. (6:45 p.m.} Discussion/Action re Actual vs. Budgeted expenditures (First Quarter,
FY 2008-09). The GM provided an overview of this itemn. Brief discussion ensued. No
action was taken.

* Discussed out of order,

Vi. GENERAL MANAGER'S REPORT (6:48 p.m.)

The GM provided an overview of the following subjects;

A Laboratory Testing

B. Water production and sales

C. Leaks

D, CiP Phase IV-A

E. Cal-Nevada AWWA Conference

VIi. CLOSED SESSION (7:03 p.m.)

President Wikle announced the Closed Session items below. The Roard went in {o Closed Session
at7.03 p.m. At7:14 p.m., the meeting reconvened and the following action was announced:

A, Conference with real property negotiator (Gov. Code section 54956.8).
Property: Mt. Jackson. No action was taken.

Vill. BOARD MEMBERS’ ANNOUNCEMENTS/COMMENTS
(7:15 p.m.)

(None.)

b4

IX. ITEMS FOR THE NEXT AGENDA (7:15 p.m.)





Rate Study

Closed session (real property)
Flueridation

Cal Water contract

el

The meeting adjourned at 7:16 p.m.

ADJOURN

Respectfully subm;tt

JulierA. Kenny

Clerk to the Board of Directors

APPROVED: f
/ / AL < i (jﬂ/ct‘.é'%
Wanda Smith: ‘TC{, &/v"fét— N
Victoria Wikle: LTt 5. (akrtds
Gaylord Schaap: Lty forgt  SE kg
v 4
Ken Mclean: )

Susan Keach:







TO: Board of Directors AGENDA NQO. V-A

FROM: Steve Mack, General Manager

Meeting Date: December 4, 2008

Subject: RUSSIAN RIVER BIOLOGICAL OPINION FLOWS

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive a presentation on flow changes associated
with the Russian River Biological Opinion by Pam Jeane, Deputy Chief Engineer-
Operations, Sonoma County Water Agency.

FISCAL IMPACT: none
DISCUSSION:

The Sonoma County Water Agency is working with the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers (COE) and the National Marine Fisheries Service to implement a
Biological Opinion for threatened and endangered salmonids (Coho and Chinook
Salmon and Steelhead) on operations of the COE projects in the Russian River.
Part of the BO recommendations affect flows in the lower Russian River. Pam
Jeane, Deputy Chief Engineer-Operations, will be here to give a presentation on
the changes to flows in the river and to answer questions.










e

Russian River Instream
Flow and Restoration

The Biological Opinion:
Frequently Asked Questions

What is a “biological opinion”?

A biclagical opinion is a determination made by a federal agency—in this case the National Marine
Fisheries Service (NMFS)—tc help restore threatened or endangered species. Biologicat opinions are
prepared when federal government agencies consult with other federal agencies in a process spelled
out in Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act.

In essence, biological opinions summatize the studies done during the Section 7 consultation process,
analyze the impact of a specific project, and determine whether the project is likely to harm the
survival and the recovery of the species. If the biological opinion finds that the species are likely 10 be
harmed by the project, it inciudes "reasonable and prudent alternatives” that must be implemented.

In this case the project is the Russian River Instream Flow and Restoration Project as cperated by the
U.S Army Corps of Engineers {Corps) on behalf of the Sonoma County Water Agency (SCWA) and the
Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control and Water Conservation improvement District,

What problem is the Russian River biological opinion trying to soive?

The Russian River and its major tributaries are home to three species of fish that are threatened or
endangered: steelhead, coho salmon, and Chinook salmon.

There are many reasons for the decline of these species, including historic overfishing, gravel mining,
development near the river and its tributaries, Increased sedimentation from logging and historic
égfi(:ultural practices, and changing climate and ocean conditions. The reasons aiso include flood
control and water supply projects in the river and in Dry Creek, These projects are the sole focus of
the biotogical opinion.

Essentially, the biclogicat opinion addresses the following questions:

Do the flood control projects operated by the Corps and the water supply and flood control projects
operated by SCWA threaten te jeopardize the continued existence of steelhead, coho, and Chinook?

If the answer is yes, how can these projects or operations be changed to enabile the survival and the
recovery of the species? secry, ¢

What does this biological opinion find?

After more than 10 years of studlies (many conducted and paid for by SCWA), NMFS finds that
some aspects of flood control and water supply operations threaten (o jeopardize steelhead and
coho but not Chinook.

{continued) —





This jeopardy opinion means that SCWA and the Corps must
change operations. There are three areas of partdcular concerm,

1. High summertime flows in the Russian River and Ory
Creek Contrary to what biologists believed in 1986, when
the State Water Resources Control Board set minimum
summertime Russian River flows in a ruling referred 1o as
Decision 1610, biologists have concluded that fast-moving
water in the river and Dry Creek make it difficult for juvenile
steethead, coho, and Chinook to grow and thrive. Reducing
fiows in the river and improving habitat in Dry Creek for
these fish is a major component of the biological opinion.

SECTHY, PP I64-54; BECT W, PP 22348

2. The high velocity of water in Dry Creek in the
summer Fourteen-rnile-long Dry Creek is the means by
which water from Lake Sonoma gets 1o the Russian River, As
described above, the fast-moving water rmakes it difficult for
young fish 1o thrive, The biclogical opinion requires that, over
a 15-year period, there be habitat restoration and changes in
the configuration of the channel 1o ¢reate stow-moving pools
along 6 miles of the creek. sECT v, BE 122-77) SECT X, PP 260-67

3. The current practice of “breaching” the sandbar at the
estuary Federal biclogists believe that breaching negatively
affects the estuary (the mouth of the river) by allowing more
saltwater than is natural to flow into it and by keeping the
amount of freshwater artificially low. The biclogical opinion
requires SCWA 1o adopt "adaptive management” practices in
the estuary, with the goal of keeping the sandbar closed in
the summer months Lo create a freshwater lagoon in which
young steelhead can grow. SECT 1v, BP 184-55; SECT X, PP 248-50

What is a reasonable and prudent alternative?

When a biological opinion finds that current or proposed activities
could threaten the continued existence of a threatened or
endangered species, it inciudes steps for public agencies to take
to avoid further problems. These steps are called “reasenable and
prudent alternatives’

In the case of the Russian River biclagical opinion, some reasonable
and prudent alternatives include the following:

B Reducing summertime flows in the river secv i, pp 243-28

Restoring & miles of habitat in Dry Creek sect x, e 260-86

Creating a freshwater lagoon in the estuary during the

summer months $8CT X, P8 24850

# Carefully monitoring both habitat and fish in Dry Creek, the
estuary, and the river seCT X, #F 235-60, 264-65

B Eliminating impediments to fish spawning or improving

habitat in several streams secy X, pp 267-72

B Erhancing the existing coho broodstock program
SECT X, PP 27374

Who is involved?

The National Marine Fisheries Service, the Sonoma County Water
Agency, the US. Army Corps of Engineers, the Mendocino County
Russian River Flood Control and Water Conservation Improvermnent
District, and the California Department of Fish and Game are

the agencies involved, with SCWA and the Corps responsible for
implementing many of the reasonable and prudent alternatives.

How long will this biological
opinion be in effect?

The Russian River biological opinion is a 15-year recovery plan,

What happens if SCWA fails te
implement the biological opinion?

SCWA is committed to carrying out the biological opinion, but
many of the projects envisioned in later years could change as data
becomes available from projects implemented earlier and from the
extensive studies and monitoring involved. Think of the biological
opinion as a blueprint that can be adjusted by agreement as the
situation evolves and new information becomes available,

How much will it cost?

Only a handful of items in the biological opinion include dollar
amounts. SCWA and the Corps are calculating the costs of the vast
array of projects and are developing a financial plan and a budget
for the implementation of the biological opinion, At this point

we estimate that the habitat restoration, monitoring, and studias
required of SCWA and the Corps will cost up to $100 miflion over
15 years. SECT X, PR 267-73, 278

Who will pay for it?

Funding will likely come from a variety of sources, including
ratepayers, state and federal grants, and existing tax revenues that
can be designated for this purpose.

Who will make sure it's implemented?

The biclogical opinion requires that SCWA conduct extensive
monitoring and reporting. The data will be provided 1o NMFS
and the (alifornia Department of Fish and Game, which will
monitor the work,





How can the public get involved?

There are several ways the public can get involved:

One or more environmental impact reports (EIRs) wili be
required to change Decision 161¢, the ruling that estabiished
minimum summer flows. The EIR process indudes many
public meetings and the opportunity for people to cormment,

B The nonprofit Center for Collaborative Policy will interview
dozens of community members to determine how
changes inriver flows, in Dry Creek, and in the estuary
could affect therm.

B SCWA will hold community meetings to keep residents
and businesses updated and t0 answer questions.

If you are interested in more information about these apportunities,
please visit www.sonomacountywater.org and click the RRIFR fink.

What is an estuary? And why is it important
to steelthead, coho, and Chinook?

An estuary is where a river meets the sea. The convergence of
freshwater fram the river and saltwater from the sea creates a
dynamic environment that supports a broad diversity of fish,
wildlife, and invertebirate and plant species. Estuaries play an
important role in the Hife history of steelhead, coho, and Chinook.
Salmon use estuaries 1o adapt to saline conditions prior to entering
the ocean and to adapt to freshwater before migrating upstream to
the spawning grounds. Some spedcies, particularly steelhead, spend
extended periods of time in estuaries, where the rich avaiiability of
invertebrates helps them grow quickly before entering the ocean.

i thought fish need lots of water, so why
does the biological opinion require
iess water in the Russian River?

Biologists have concluded that current flow releases into the
Russian River are much higher during the summer than under
historic conditions and are too high for optimal habitat for young
steethead, cohe, and Chinock. ssct v, 7 164-84

Reducing summer flows in the Russian River would provide
better habitat by reducing velocity, would eliminate the need to
artificially breach the sandbar at the estuary, and may improve
surnmer habitat in the estuary by allowing the formation of a
freshwater lagoon.

Reducing surnmer flows in the upper Russian River from Lake
Mendocino woutid also retain a greater amount of the cold-water
pool behind Coyote Valley Dam, which would be available 1o be
released in the fate summer and the early fall, benefiting adult fish
returning 10 the river 1o spawn.

What is the process for changing the
summertime flows in the Russian River?

Summertirmne flows are controfied by Decision 1610, the ruling

that requires minimum flow levels at specified areas of the Russian
River and Dry Creek. The minimum flow levels vary, depending on
whether the year is ‘normal,” dry) or “critically dry" (Decision 1610
requires that SCWA release water from Lake Mendocino and Lake
Sonoma to maintain these flows regardiess of the amount of water
that others take from the river and the creek.} sset uy, o2 15-19

The biological opinion requires that summertime flows be
permanently reduced to replicate river conditions in dry years
{although the biological opinion does acknowledge the complexity
of operating the system and allows flows 1o vary). 8T %, #p 24428

To change the flow requirements, SCWA must ask the State Water
Resources Control Board to alter Decision 1610. This will require

a comprehensive EIR, which could take several years. The state
water board will weigh the information provided in the EIR with
other factors when making the ultimate decision on summertime
flows. In addition, because the biological opinion requires jower
flows beginning in 2014, an interim change o Decision 1610 will
be necessary; this may require a focused, less comprehensive
ervironmental document. SecT ¥, P 247-48

Because Dry Creek is the conduit to get
Lake Sonoma water to the Russian River,
if there is less water in the creek, won't
that mean less water for people?

The reasonable and prudent alternatives provide for habitat
restoration in Dry Creek, The goal is to naturalize the creekin a way
that allows water t¢ continue to flow to meet the current demands
of people while creating slow-moving pools and shady areas for
young steelhead and coho to grow. &y X, p8 260-67

A threatened Chinook saimon migrating up the Russian River





if less water is heeded in the river, would
the diversion of Eel River water end?

Pacific Gas & Electric’s diversion of £el River water through the
Potter Valley Project is requlated by the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission. These diversions from the Eel River are not controlled
by SCWA and will not change as a result of the biclogical opinion.

Does the bioclogical opinion require a pipeline to
be built from Lake Sonoma to the Russian River?

Mo. The biological opinion does not require the construction of a
pipeline, It does require a pipeline feasibility study; and, if habitat
restoration projects in Dry Creek are determined to be unsuccessful,
inyear 10 {2018}, the biclogical opinion requires a change in
approach, which could result in additional pipeline studies.

SECT X, PP 364, 372

How will less water in the river affect
summertime recreation?

Canoeists, kayakers, swimnmers, and people who just like to float

down the river in inner tubes—alf are an important gart of the river

culture. The EIR will include in-depth analyses of how lower flows
might affect recreation on the river.

What problem in the estuary does the
biological opinion attempt to address?

Tidal action builds a sandbar at the mouth of the Russian River that
peviodically closes the estuary. River water behind the sandbar rises
high enough to threaten low-lying property in Jenner and further
intand. SCWA holds permits to breach the sandbar to minimize the
flooding risk and aliow the river to flow freely into the ocean.

Based on studies of coastal lagoons elsewhere in California, some
biclogists believe that keeping the Russian River estuary closed
in the summer would create better conditions for young salmon,
particularly steelhead, {0 grow and thrive.

The biological opinion requires that SCWA adopt adaptive
managernent practices that would keep the estuary closed in the
summertime unless flooding is imminent. In the later years of the
biological opinion, if the sandbar is repeatedly breached to avoid
flooding, SCWA will be required to study alternative solutions to

For more information visit www.sonomacountywater.org.

adaptively manage the sandbar, including modifying the existing
jetty and elevating homes and other structures in the area to
pravent them from floading. The plan also requires extensive
biclogical, physical, and water-quality monitoring to help determine
whether a closed summertime lagoon is better for salmon,

SECTX, PR 2A8~50

Why doesn't the biological opinion
assass impacts on humans?

Under the federal Endangered Species Act, biclogical opinions
rnust assess the impacts of projects on threatenead species, not on
humans. The EIR that is required to change minimum summertime
flows iri the Russian River, however, will assess the impacts an
humans, including potential recreational and economic effects.

Shouldn’t the biclogical opinion address
ali the problems in the watershed?

The purpose of the biological opinion isn't to address alf problems
in the watershed but to address those problems related to specific
SCWA and Corps operations.

How does the biological opinion address
likely impacts of climate change in our area?

The biological opinion assumes that local impacts from global
climate change will be limited and difficuit to predict in the next
15 years, The effects of dlimate change as it relates to lowering the
flows in the Russian River wifl be addressed in the environmental
impact repory. sECT L # 5

What is an “incidental take statement”?

The federal Endangered Species Act prohibits the "take” (in essence,
the killing, harassment, or harm) of threatened species. Agencies
can be exempted from take by the regulating agency (in this case
NMFS) if species are harrned incidentally as an unintentional result
of lawful operations. The biological opinion includes an incidental
take statement that exempts SCWA and the Corps from take that
could result from specified lawful operations and from changes in
operations as a result of the biclogical opinion so long as the terms
and conditions of the statement are met. SECT ¥4, 99 206-352

Russian River Instream
Flow and Restoration





Russian River Instream
Flow and Restoration

Proposed Changes to Russian River Flows

Unlike many urban water systems that rely on underground wells or reservoirs, the Sonoma County
Water Agency (SCWA) meets the majority of its customers'needs by collecting Russian River water from

" pipes buried deep beiow the riverbed. The water is naturally filtered through rocks, gravel, and sand
and then collected and treated with a minimal amount of chiorine (as required by state law) before it is
delivered to customers.

in the summer this innovative and relatively inexpensive callection system refies on water released
from Lake Sonoma and Lake Mendocino, which are owned by the US. Army Corps of Engineers and
operated 10 maet SCWA water supply needs.

The Problem A 1986 ruling {referred (o as Decision 1610) by the State Water Resources Control
Board (State Watey Board) requires minimum summertime flows at specified areas of the Russian River
and Dry Creek These minimum flow requirements were set to meet recreation needs and what were
understood at the time to be the needs of the ﬁshery: The minimum flow leveis vary, depending on
whether the year is "normal,” “dry," or “critically dry” For example, at Hacienda Bridge in Guerneville, in
normat years the average flow must be 125 cubic feet per second (cfs); in dry years the average flow
must be 85 cfs.

Biclogists with the National Marine Fisheries Service {NMF5) have concluded that current flow levels in
the Russian River and Dry Creek dusing the summer are too high for young coho salmon and steelhead.

The Sclution NMFS biologists believe that reducing summertime flows in the Russian River and Dry
Creek would provide better fishery habitat by reducing velocity, would minimize the need to artificially
breach the sandbar at the river mouth, and may improve estuary conditions for steethead by attowing
the formation of a freshwater lagoon. The NMFS has issued a biclegical opinion that reqguires SCWA

to ask the State Water Board for permission to reduce summertime flows 1o approximately 85 cfs at
Hacienda Bridge in both normal and dry years.

Reducing surmmertime flows in the upper Russian River fram Lake Mendocine would also retain more
of the cold-water poo! behind Coyote Valley Dam so that it is available for release in the late summer
and the early fall—benefiting adult fish returning to the river to spawn. The biological opinion requires
SCWA to ask the State Water Board t¢ reduce summertime flows in the upper river to 125 ¢fs (current
flows range from 185 to 150 cfs),

The implementation To change the flow requirements, SCWA must ask the State Water Board to
ajter Decision 1610, This will require a comprehensive environmental impact report (EIR), which will
take several years to complete. The EIR will include analyses of the proposed changes to recreation,
wildlife habitar, water quality, and the iocal economy. The EIR will also include other components of
the biological opinion, such as changes in estuary management. The process wilt include muitiple
opportunities for public comment.

The State Water Board will weigh the information provided in the EfR along with public input when
making the ultimate decision about summertime flows. In addition, because the biotogical opinion
requires lower flows beginning in 2010, SCWA must ask the State Water Board far interim changes 1o
Decision 1610. This request will also require an environmental anatysis of the proposed changes.

For more information visit www.sonomacountywater.org.










Russian River Instream
Flow and Restoration

Russian River Estuary Adaptive Management

An estuary is where a river meets the ocean. The mix of freshwater from the river and saltwater from

the sea Creates a dynamic environment that supports a broad array of fish, wildiife, and invertebrate

and plant species. Salmon and steelhead use estuaries 1o adapt 1o saline conditions prior to entering
the ocean and to adapt to freshwater before migrating upstream to their spawning grounds.

The Problam During the surnmey, tidal action forms a sandbar at the mouth of the Russian River
near the town of Jenner, The sandbar often becomes high enough 1o prevent the siver from entering
the sea. The resuit is a lagoon that occasionally threatens 1o flood low-lying progerties from Jepner
to Duncans Mills,

For many years private citizens would breach the sandbar, enabling the river to flow into the ocean and
eliminating the threat of flooding. in the early 1950s, the Sonoma County Public Works Department
tock over the job, using heavy equipment to breach the sandbar. In the mid-1990s, the task was

turned over to the Sonoma County Water Agency (SCWA) during a county reorganization. {For current
breaching practices, see the reverse side)

Scientists with the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) believe that the large volume of saltwater
that enters the estuary when the sandbar Is opened creates a less-than-optimal environment for young
stealhead to grow before entering the ocean.

The Solution NMFS biologists believe that a summertime freshwater lagoon would create a healthier
nursery for young steelhead, They point to other rivers in California, where the formation of similar
“perched”lagoons has improved conditions for steethead during the summer months.

The tmplementation The biological opinion outlines a two-pronged strategy for creating a
summertime freshwater lagoon.

Part one of the strategy is to reduce the flow of water in the Russian River during the summer. Less
water in the river reduces the likelihood of the lagoon'’s flooding nearby properties. Please see the
“Proposed Changes 10 Russian River Flows” document for details on reducing summertime flows,

Part two of the strateqy requires SCWA to adopt “adaptive management” practices in the estuary that
involve the following:

# Annually creating an cutlet channel, cut diagonally to the northwest, 1o allow river water to flow
out while preventing ccean water from entering the lagoon

Considering artificially dosing the sandbar if it hasn't closed on its own by mid-June

8 If the new method of creating a perched lagoon isn't successful, studying the effects on the
estuary of the jetty at Goat Rock State Beach and evaluating alternatives that include removing
or notching the jetty

& I the new method of creating a perched lagoon isn't successful in reducing fiood risks,
evaluating the possibility of elavating structures in the area

The plan also requires extensive biological, physical, and water-quality monitaring to help determine
whether a closed summertime lagoon is better for salmeon.

{continued) —





Current Sandbar Breaching Pregram

The Sonoma County Water Agency mechaniczlly breaches the sandbar to alleviate potential flecading
of low-lying shoreline properties near Jenner. Breaching is performed when the water surface level

in the estuary is between 4% and 7 feet as deterrined by the gauge at the Jenner Visitors Center, in
accordance with the Russian River Estuary Study 1992-1993. Breaching when water surface levels in
the estuary are at or below 7 feet prevents flooding of Willow Creek marsh as well as potentiaf water-
quality effects related to draining flcodwaters from the marsh.

To breach the sandbay, a bulldozer or similar equipment is offloaded at the parking ot at Goat Rock
State Beach and driven onteo the beach via an existing access point. A “pilot channel”is cut at a depth
that aliows river fiows 1o begin carrying sand into the ocean. The sand is mechanically moved onto
the beach adjacent 10 the pilot channel After the pilot channel is dug, the last upstream portion of
the sandbar is removed, allowing river water (o flow into the sea. The size of the pilot channel varies,
depending on the height of the sandbar, the level of the tide, and the surface level of water in the
estuary. A typical channel would be approximately 100 feet long, 25 feet wide, and & feet deep. The
armount of sand moved ranges from less than 108 cubic yvards to approximately 1,000 cubic yards.

within 24 hours prior to hreaching, SCWA contacts state parks lifeguards and posts signs and barders
to minimize potential hazards to beach visitors.

Adaptive Management

For more information visit www.sonomacountywater.org.

Russian River Instream
Flow and Restoration






Endangered Species Act
Section 7 Consultation

BIOLOGICAL OPINION

for

Water Supply, Flood Control Operations, and Channel Maintenance
conducted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the Sonoma County
Water Agency, and the Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control
and Water Conservation Improvement District in the Russian River

watershed
PCTS Tracking Number: F/SWR/2006/07316
Action Agency: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, San Francisco District

Consultation Conducted By: National Marine Fisheries Service, Southwest Region

Date Issued: September 24. 2008











TABLE OF CONTENTS

A BLE GF A CRONY IS ooriovreeseeessstsessaemeeeesstteresssaseersssrrirassesseanssteasanss e smet sissssnsssssesens satissnentseratsssrssamnbinssssansnronirssns ¥

I. INTRODUCTION . ...ccoiteerrennreresenens saseeesnesiansars s nsateerubsens venernerenns wesemrensstesennas roreraneas 1

A. ORGANIZATION OF THE BIOLOGICAL OPENION oot ieeeeeeireeee e iettssiasrsresanstassbascss sams st suegas e sansssasvasiasarsrssnserensorss 2
B. UNCERTAINTY AND JKCEY ASSUNMPTIONS 1.v1eeereitessoretaae it estnsseussssassassseeasssrtsssse srassssseesasssssssassmenssssmassrasstosanessesrsd
C. ECOLOGICAL CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK 11vvve v s seeseseetssssessissassssssasssstossasessrs s rasesassssssssessssasansnssresrer enessd

H. CONSULTATION HISTORY............ rrsressieiresaes e eenee rererencssrssbessars s s an st ens e ||

I1l. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED ACTION...........

B PROJECT ELE\&EI\TS

1. Non-fload Water Suppiy Releasez.

2. Estuary Management.... .

3. Channel Maintenance 4 ctaons ........................................................................................................................

4. Reservoir Flood Control Operations - Coyote Val!ey Dam and Wearm Springs Damt ......ooovenninns 33

3. Hatchery Operations .. - Ceerarseemeeserrresah e ot rae et an e n et 38

6. Hydroelectric Facr!mes at Coyote Vah'ev mzd Wm ‘" Sprmgs Dam:. .......................................................... 4f
C. INTERRELATED AND INTERDEPENDENT ACTIONS... SO U VOO OO X

1. Water Diversion Ope)at‘mnsrf’j’
D. ACTION AREA... - . OO U RSOOSR o

IV. STATUS OF THE SPECIES AND CRITICAL HABITAT c.ccovvccvinniannee cerersasssenes e d9

B LI HISTORY .o octteeeveiicsrriteseesairnrsessasssstseser sontronssasse e snes s Shabasssbatsbsshens onanainassssesen ssennbannstesnesaraanriasraransinsrnstnsis
B, SPECIES VIABILITY ASSESSMENT
C. CRITICAL HABITAT STATUS

V. ENVIRONMENTAL BASELINE........ ehbesamsRsesTasssRsssesrnssnntraun rren 99
A. CONDITION OF HABITAT/CRITICAL HABITAT WITHIN THE ACTION AREA oo eenr v certsssnssiisirannes 60

1. Historical Habitat Conditions Within the ACHON ATE.....ccvieiiiiiiiiiiaecrereeere bt s e s rsnss s ssaem e ssbs s aae o4

2. Current Condition of Habitat/Critical Habitat within the ACHOR AFeti ..o i 94

3. Conservation Rele of Specific Habitat Areas within the ACHOR ArCa....cccrreeinincomsnissiniscrsncnens- A 08
B. STATUS OF LISTED SPECIES WITHIN THE ACTION AREA
{. Chinook Salmor
2. Coho Salmon

By STEEIMEU .coveeereeereee v asse e ereeiasaresetaesasassae s s et sss s tne e maam e e omte e Aok Rt e e Ae T ey an e e s eme et d RN AR R g a et srar e e

C. FACTORS AFFECTING LISTED SALMONIDS AND THEIR HABITAT WITHIN THE ACTION AREA ... 118
1. Coyote Valley Dam Operations ... et et reeteateertiasateneaamiaseeansieaeeesstbenraRne senateett kb b sy &
2. Wearm Springs Dam OPErRIIORNS . ... o oo i ez s sasb et et 11 s SR S R 722
3. Hydroelectric Operations .......coenens ettt e tieeeteseemtitessremsessretssirinresatesheeictaesetevaRtanrTaant i et j29
4, WOEEr DIVEErSION FACHIIIES .occoosseer e eeet et ces s eeteetea s e esas e s ee e e roe oot b deabap g2 on s e e A b L b vy g2 29
5. CHanREl MaiRERGACE ooovoviocoreeeeeeeeeeeeeea vt ieteeetrsetaesbes s asbaasos shas 2artaesaeam sememans ereebba s 3SR ae s eh s T e n e ab b L a LR R r g vt e 130
B, ST A RS EIVOIFS oo eeereeeeerees et eeet s s istevsaeatesss s s e avesrateaen s embesbbe s skt a1 e P nae s £ e s e s srmsena b T e Ta S v e g e e a AR 13/
7. ESIQEY BredClIZ oottt ir s reiass e saess e e s st eenas s a et e R TS 131
8. Artificial Propagation and Supplementation of Salmonids U - >
8. Monitoring of DCFHICYFF Hatchery Operations ... oo s rrereerneen 4 37
i f), Mam stem Russmn River Channefization . : 138

12 Uf bcm Deve!opmen!
13, Instream RoQd CrOSSIBES ..ottt b e et e R b
B, SO DDUE oo eeer oo re e eeees e et et e s em e e e e e eseseeres o444 s 4eab e s ame e s a2 4R e rat e R R e TR AR R R bbb 139

it





T CTHOVE] EXIFOOITON < oot e eeveveasas st essrsaeessss e eeeaass e beaeesda s At e e s e e s gram 282 b amsbe b ase s re s aba b e s e rr s s e nnan 141

T, TEIBEF FHOIVEST ooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeer e v ettt sassmasennsaeesaaseesse s s eeneaabesdeate e sbsaanassar s ones s eom s r s e sram ke s b e b L b s ppbaeenrmen ot 147
17, Fisheries Managemeny...............ocuarmminirisessesecsesseseessssssmsesstssmsassimnimmsersissnssess s ssssessossnsssonses 42
FE T QECE DEVBISIONS oot eeeeeseeetn et sressase s sts s as s stmsnsssnes ssberate s e srnderaem 01458 paababoss b brsbns sbabas st nnerene 143
19 Restoration Actions
20, NI EVCIES oo v vess e s sasteesasssreses s et eaemes eessaasbabanysnntsassrananranreara s e s e e mamteeammneme i (hbd b er s ia s 1re 21
V1. EFFECTS OF THE PROPOSED ACTION. ......... s am s aRsess e coresnsrernes 145
A. FLOOD CONTROL - COYOTE VALLEY DaM QPERATIONS ...
B. HYDROELECTRIC FACILITY AT COYOTE VALLEY DAM........
C, FLOOD CONTROL - WARM SPRINGS DAM OPERATIONS ..ot sssessae e
0. WARM SPRINGS DAM HYDROELECTRIC FACILITY ittt iiiniimesmiovrsssssteesesnaaes s bassemnessnsanssresnns anasinns
E. HATCHERY O PERATIONS tvtetrierssiersresirssasssmssarsensistesssnssassstasssinstnetnstsassanssisneteissonsrenstsss issnmmsrsrsn s irsrasyyrscess
B, FLOW MANAGEMENT ooviiririsvanresiimsnsserennisssrensses seaseeree bheasmat s ssssans
G. ESTUARY MANAGEMENT
H. CHANNEL MAINTENANCE - MAIN STEM AND DRY CREEK......
I, CHANNEL MAINTENANCE - ZONE TA CONSTRUCTED AND NATURAL “’ATERWAYS rrrerenresrennenssminsensnes 2O
J. CENTRAL SONOMA WATERSHED PROJECT FLOOD CONTROL RESERVOIRS... 21 8
K. URBANIZATION.. 218
L. INTERRELATED AND li\TERI)EPE\DENT AC"rtvn o8 SOV TOU O PEN 218
VII. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS..cciivicieenns veberarraetessanarItrrrreras, rnsvrseneeensnnenesanbercbiasnssersraesesnnrnnn S
VIH. INTEGRATION AND SYNTHESIS OF EFFECTS ........ S 4.
A CRITICAL HABITAT o otecetrcvtse s tisrasessassssintirrsssasssearassssssssns s smsseasns sosssesuesss sasesatrs bbb bessmse s smsenbs th s s bebbaraaspaca e aesranrs 226
1. Flow Management Effects 081 Critical HabUal ... ecrorirneceieecoresvesisssssssisensnss s iossssssssssionsssssassssss o 20
2. Estuarine Management Effects on Critical Habitat... OSSO PO U U OSUUUTRPUUUPOUPURUE . J |

B

3. Flood Channel Maintenance Effects on Critical Habzmt
4, Warer Diversion Facility and Hydroelectric Pr o;ecf Eﬁ”ects on Cr zrzcaf Habztar.............,,..........................233
5. Summary of Project Effects on Critical Habitat ... e etetaretena e et aret et arenennsarer e it e s et arnassraesertrerrsneraereceess 2 33

I i O £ oS O S P SR PO PO PP PSPPI PSRRI TY 234

1. Project Effects on Chinook Salmon Survival and Recovefy SOOI UOTPORRDIROD . &
2. Project Effects on Steelhead Survival and Recovery ... SR PR TUUOTUU O OUORPOBTRUOPRBRPR. 5. |
3. Project Effects on Caho Salmon Swrvival and Recovery SO OR AU ORST RSO OUPYUOPROr . ¥
4. Summary of Project Effects on Species Swrvival and Recove:y e em et sra bt serearar e rense st st s A D

IX. CONCLUSIONS...cnvvvviiiine ceereererersearnasrnanscsns 40

X. REASONABLE AND PRUDENT ALTERNATIVE. . rrrnereceneeee orsisurrarnare .- § |
A.  PROJECT MODIFICATIONS AND NEW PROJECT ELEMENTS OF THE REASONABLE AND PRUDENT

ALTERNATIVE ... . SOV SOV YOO DT PRPURO OO PSOUPP RO 2. X. |

{. Pursue Changes 1'0 D! 6]0 F‘!oms .............................................................................................................. 243

2. Alterations 10 EStuary MOROAZEIMENT .. ..o eis s et sebiant b s sen s crrrnrnees 248

3. Dry Creek Habitat Enhancements .. et en et ee e ee et anr b essebes s eans et eernistetes s ionssssnsssnnes s OO

4. Coho Broadstock Program Enlmm:ememv e 273

3. Annual Monitoring of Salmonid Migy m‘mn in rize Ruman Rwei af Mr.' abe.’/ Woh[ er mmf D: y Ci eek e 275

6. Funding Assurances for Purpases of Consistency Determination for CESA....o.ovoeervs e 2 T8

B. EFFECTS OF THE RPA ON CC CHINOOK SALMON, CCC STEELHEAD, AND CCC COHO ‘BALMOI\ ........... 280

1. Effects of the RPA on Steethead Survival and RECOVEIY ..o vt s 280

2. Effects of the RPA on Steethead Critical HOBIIAE ........c..oocvveiiovinicreecn e 285

3. Effects of the RPA on Colio Survival and RECOVEIY.......coviiriiimic s e 287

4. Effects of the RPA on Coho Salmon Critical Habitar ... 292

5. Effects of the RPA on Chinook salmon survival @ FECOVEFY. ... e e 2 93

6. Effects af the RPA on Chinook salmon Critical HABRE. ..ot 294

it





X1, INCIDENTAL TAKE STATEMENT ...covniinineenmrirmmnssimmen, rerssreesrnissreens e 296
A, AMOUNT OR EXTENT OF TAKE .. reer e et eR s er bt e St e snae e reesrameennanes ssbaes e s B FO
{. Water Supply releases from WSD ana’ CVD 297
2. Adaptive Estuarine Breaoliig ... e s b st 307
3. Flood Control at WSD and CVD ..ccoivvivciiiiiiiiiiee 303
4. Prefloodiperiodic inspections @l CFD it se s ans s erss st v st et st na st es seae s sen s 305
5. Turbidity Releases from CFD . i s e st ety i st eare s vagaesaebnes 305
O, HGICHEEY OPEFATIONS coriticeeeireceeei ettt sttt ib i bbb e a e e AL eSS4 S be R A s b e b bbb e a T st e be e e 306
7. Charnnel Maintenance Activities in Mainstem, Dy Creek, and Zone 1 A oo 309
8. Water Diversions Including Maintenance ...t s 312
Q. SalmOnid MOHUOFINE ... rriiveroties oot cees e e ee e e e s b ama e e manb bt e e eem s e em e s s e s e 312
10, Dy Creek Habital ENBGRCEIMEITIS oo et rtveies et seetsanee b e st maeas sy ar et eneestensvessansin s snb o 317
B. EFFECT OF TAKE ... . e 318
C. REASONABLE AND I’RUDEM MEASURES AND TERMS .—\ND Cowm I‘!ONS - e 318
RPM I: Undertake measures to ensure that harm and mortalify to listed .m[momds‘ from ad{fpnve
management of the bar ar the mouth of the Russian River are low. ..o o veeviiinimicinnis e e 318
RPM 2: Undertake measures to ensuve that harm and nwrmlz’ty to listed salmonids from pre—ﬂaod/periodic
matntenance at CVD are low................. 319
RPM 3: Undertake measures to ENSHP thtzr harm mm’ mor talttp 1o lzsted salmomds ﬁ'om mmpmg
Procedures 8t CVD Gre Jow. ..o i e s e s e e re e 320
RPM4:  Undertake measures to assist NMES in determining the amount of take resulting from turbidity
FELEASES G TV D oottt A b bbb ke b e e et s n e ana T 0e 324

RPM 5: Undertake measures to ensure that harm and mortality to listed salmonids resulting from Dry
Creek and tributary habitat enhancements and channel maintenance activities in the mainstem Russian
River, Dry Creek, and Zone A, @ IOW. c...ccocooirviiiiiiiiii i essasies s rans e s eraes b reara s b ens s bes e s seanesenane 323
RPM 6: Undertake measures to ensure that harm and mortality to listed salmonids from diversion
operations, maintenance, and fish screen replacement ar Wohler and Mirabel are low. ........ccovnveiinnnn . 327
RPM 7: The Corps (and CDFG} shall operate the DCFH and CVFF steelhead prograwms in a manner that
minimizes adverse genetic effec:rs to steelhead within the Russian River and within the CCC steelhead DFPS,

329

RPM 3 SC WA shali unde: mke measures to ensure ﬂzat m;m'y and rrwrtalzty to Ilsted salmamds res:dtmg
from fish monitoring ot Mirabel diversion dam, in the estuary, and in Dry Creek are low. ... 330
XIL CONSERVATION RECOMMENDATIONS.....icmmeseresmsnssscrrssssrsssymsassssnes FUTRIRSTOTRUR. K. X. )
XIIL. REINITIATION NOTICE ...covnvirnnriemeneniss weee 333
XIV. REFERENCES CITED... . e hvebret s asetrnrssRsarar e s naatnan 334

iv





Table of Acronyms

Ac-ft acre-feet

BA Biclogical Assessment

CDFG California Dept. Fish & Game

CESA California Endangered Species Act

CHART Critical Habitat Analytical Review Team

CIE Center for Independent Experts

Corps U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

CvVD Coyote Valiey Dam

CVFF Coyote Valley Fish Facility

Dis610 SWRCB Water Right Decision 1610

DCFH Don Clausen Fish Hatchery

DPS Distinct Population Segment

ESA Endangered Species Act

ESU Evolutionarily Significant Unit

EWSL Emergency water supply line

FMEP Fishery Management & Evaluation Plan

HGMP Hatchery and Genetic Management Plan

LMHPP Lake Mendocino Hydroelectric Power Plant

LWD Large woody debris

MCRRFCD Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control and Water Conservation
Improvement District

MOU Memorandum Of Understanding

NCPA Northern California Power Agency- (member: City of Ukiah)

NCRWQUCB North Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board

NMFS National Marine Fisheries Service

PCE Primary Constituent Element (of critical habitaf}

ppm parts per million

ppt parts per thousand

RCD Resource Conservation District

RPA Reasonable and Prudent Alternative

RRCSCBP  Russian River Coho Salmon Captive Broodstock Program

SCWA Sonoma County Water Agency

SWRCB State Water Resources Control Board

TRT Technical Recovery Team (for listed species Recovery Plans}

VSPp Viable Salmon Population

WSD Warm Springs Dam

WWTP Wastewater Treatment Plants

YOY Young-of-Year (i.e., age 0+ fish)





EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Pursuant to Section 7(a)}(2) of the Federal Endangered Species Act (ESA), NOAA’s National
Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) consulted with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps)
regarding its operations of Warm Springs Dam (WSD) and Coyote Valley Dam (CVD) and a
suite of activities that are authorized by the Corps and undertaken by the Sonoma County Water
Agency (SCWA) and the Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control and Water
Conservation Improvement District (MCRRFCD). The Corps, the SCWA, and the MCRRFCD
have proposed to implement, for an additional 15 years, ongoing practices and operations at
WSD and CVD and activities related to flood control, water diversion and storage, regulation of
flows in the Russian River and Dry Creek, estuary management, hydroelectric power generation,
channel maintenance, and fish hatchery production.

These actions likely affect Central California Coast (CCC) steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss),
CCC coho salmon {O. kisutch), and California Coastal (CC) Chinook salmon (0. tshawytscha),
each of which is protected as threatened or endangered under the ESA. The proposed actions
also likely affect designated critical habitat for these species. The purpose of this consultation is
to provide a determination regarding whether the Corps has insured that the proposed project 1s
not likely to jeopardize one or more of these species or destroy or adversely modify their
designated critical habitat. If a project is found to jeopardize a species or adversely modify its
critical habitat, NMFS must develop a Reasonable and Prudent Alternative (RPA) to the
proposed project in coordination with the federal action agency and any applicant. If the project
is also expected to result in the incidental take of listed species, NMFS must also provide

reasonable and prudent measures (RPM’s) to minimize and monitor the impact of the incidental
take of listed species.

In this document, we present our anaiysis and conclusions in the conventional format for
biological opinions as described in the Endangered Species Consultation Handbook (U.S. Fish
and Wildlife Service and NMFS 1998). This biological opinion includes reviews of the
Consultation History, a Description of the Proposed Action, the Status of the Species and
Critical Habitat, and the Environmental Baseline. Following those reviews we provide an
analysis of the Effects of the Proposed Action, Cumulative Effects, and an [ntegration and
Synthesis section in which we analyze the effects of the project in the context of the species
status and environmental baseline. This biological opinion concludes with NMFS’ determination
regarding the impacts of this proposed project on the species” likelihood of survival and
recovery, and on the value of the species’ critical habitat. Because we have determined that this
proposed project is likely to jeopardize the continued existence of some of the salmonid species
affected by the proposed project, and adversely modify their critical habitats, we have provided a
Reasonable and Prudent Alternative (RPA) to the proposed action that 1) avoids jeopardy to the
species and adverse modification of critical habitat, 2) can be implemented 1n a manner
consistent with the intended purpose of the action, 3) is economically and technically feasibie,
and 4) is within the legal authorities of the Corps, SCWA, and MCRRFCD.

vi





The Proposed Action

NMFS analyzed the effects of continued operation of the Russiar: River Water Supply and Flood
Contro} Project (Project) for a 15 year period on ESA-listed threatened and endangered salmonid
species within the Russian River watershed. The Project includes operation of two dams and
appurtenant facilities in the Russian River watershed. Together, these facilities are operated to
control flooding within the watershed, to supply water to users within and outside the watershed,
and to generate hydroelectric power. The altered flow regimes caused by the Project change the
natural hydrology of the Russian River estuary, and artificial breaching of a barrier beach at the
mouth of the river is often required to prevent flooding adjacent to the estuary. In addition, the
Project includes channel maintenance activities that keep the water delivery system functional
and reduce the impacts of flooding in the mainstem and some tributaries of the Russian River.
The Project also includes operation of two fish hatchery facilities, the Don Clausen Fish
Hatchery (DCFH) located at WSD and the Coyote Valley Fish Facility (CVFFy at CVD. .
SCWA’s scope of maintenance responsibilities covered under this Biological Opinion includes
maintenance of stream channels and small reservoirs throughout most of an area that SCWA
terms Zone 1A, which consists of the Laguna de Santa Rosa watershed, as well as maintenance
activities on the Russian River main stem and the segment of Dry Creek downstream from WSD.
The Corps’ maintenance activities include safety inspections at the two dams. In addition,
MCRRFCD conducts channel maintenance activities related to the CVD in the Mendocino
County portion of the Russian River. Channel maintenance by both counties is related to Federal
sites and inspection of levees under Public Law 84-99 (non Federal sites), but this consultation
does not inclade implementation of the current Corps Operations and Maintenance manual for
channel maintenance in the Russian River watershed. Instead, NMFS is consulting on channel
maintenance practices as described in Section IILB and referenced to the Corps and SCWA’s
Biological Assessment where appropriate.

In the initial draft of this Biological Opinion, dated July 11, 2007, NMFS analyzed the
implementation of ongoing project operations for ten years, because SCWA and the Corps were
contemplating potential complex, future changes in project flow release schedules associated
with new water rights and other avenues for increasing reservoir water supplies. Such changes
were likely to take at least ten years to accomplish. We were unable to fully analyze both short-
term ongoing and future water supply scenarios because of the uncertainties and limited
available information about those future scenarios. Originally, the Corps, SCWA, and NMFS
agreed that it was pradent to evaluate project effects for the next ten year period because future
changes in water supply operations contemplated by SCWA would likely take ten years to fully
analyze and develop the permits and water rights agreements/decisions that may yield additional
water rights and water supply that would affect flows and habitat in the Russian River and Dry
Creek.

During work on the RPA, the Corps, SCWA, and NMFS determined that a major component of
the RPA would take up to fifteen years to complete, The remediation of project impacts to
designated critical habitat in Dry Creek would take 12 to 15 years to accomplish. NMFS
transmitted a working draft biological opinion to the Corps and SCWA on August 1, 2008, and
indicated that the timeframe for analysis of the original proposed project would need to be
changed from ten years to fifteen years (NMFS 2008b). NMFS also indicated in transmitting the

vii





working draft that the RPA did not ensure that resulting project operations would not Hkely
jeopardize the continued existence of listed species or result in the destruction or adverse
modification of critical habitat. Because the project’s impact on critical habitat could not be fully
addressed in a ten year period, NMFS, the Corps, and SCWA agreed to amend the period of the
proposed project from ten to fifteen years (Russian River Project Executive Committee Meeting
August 4, 2008), The RPA’s approaches to addressing impacts to critical habitat were also

discussed between SCWA and NMFS and modified subsequent to the August 1, 2008 working
draft.

The water supply and flood controi elements of the Project invoive the regulation of flood flows
to control flooding in properties adjacent to the Russian River, and the storage of water in two
reservoirs to be released for water supply in Sonoma, Mendocino, and Marin counties during the
spring, summer, and fall. The water supply is released from the reservoirs and flows down the
main stem Russian River and Dry Creek to diversion points downstream of the dams. Part of the
water stays in the river channel and flows to the Pacific Ocean at the river’s mouth near Jenner.

The diverted water is delivered to end-users for municipal, industrial, agricultural, and domestic
uses.

The keystone elements of the project are CVD, on the East Branch headwaters of the Russian
River, and WSD on Dry Creek, a main tributary of the Russian. Russian River water is released
from Lake Mendocino (the reservoir formed by CVD) for flood control, and, under the
requirements of the State Water Resources Control Board’s (SWRCB) Decision 1610 (D1610)
for water supply. The Coyote Valley Fish Facility (CVFF) was constructed in 1992 at the base of
CVD to mitigate for the loss of salmonid habitat and natural salmonid production upstream of
CVD. Water released from Lake Sonoma (the reservoir formed by the WSD) is also released for
flood control and water supply. The Don Clausen Fish Hatchery (DCFH) was built at the base of
WSD to mitigate for the loss of fish habitat and anadromous salmonid production in the upper
Dry Creek watershed. The operation and programmatic purpose of the hatchery has changed to a
more adaptive program since its inception. There have been operational changes towards
salmonid conservation and recovery to further mitigation goals and to fulfill the Corps’
obligation under Section 7 (a)(1) of the ESA. D1610 establishes minimum flow reguirements for
both Dry Creek and the Russian River. Minimum stream flows under D1610 are specified for
four different reaches in the Russian River watershed, assuring high enough summer flows to
meet the diversion requirements as well as river-based recreational uses.

In addition to the two major dams in the Russian River watershed, there are several small storage
reservoirs, levees, temporary dams, and other elements of the system that contnibute to

accomplishing the water supply and flood control goals of the Project and are discussed in
subsequent sections of this consultation.

Status of the Species and Critical Habitat
In this opinion, NMFS assessed the condition of each of the three listed salmonid species relative
to their extinction risk; we also describe the function and role of their respective critical habitats

for species conservation. The CCC coho salmon includes coastal populations in rivers entering
the ocean along the coasts of Mendocino, Sonoma, Marin, San Mateo and Santa Cruz counties.

viil





The CCC steelhead includes populations ranging from those in the Russian River south to
streams in Santa Cruz County, plus populations in streams entering San Francisco Bay (e.g.,
Sonoma Creek, Napa River, Alameda Creek). CC Chinook salmon include populations of this
species in coastal streams ranging from the Russian River north to Humboldt County’s Redwood
Creek. Our assessment of the status of these species examined the viability (per the framework
described by McElhany et &/, 2000) of populations in four to five distinct geographic areas
{termed diversity strata) that constitute each species. For this, we used the diversity strata
identified by Spence ef al. (2008).

Our assessment of extinction risk focuses on the viability of individual populations in each
diversity strata in order to appropriately apply the ESU viability criterta provided by Spence e/
al. (2008), which is the current definitive source for ESU viability evaluation. Spence ef al.
(2008) report that for an ESU or DPS to be viable, “representative”, “redundancy”, and
*connectivity” criteria must be met.

CCC coho salmon, which is listed as Endangered, faces the highest risk of extinction of the three
salmonid species considered in this opinion. This is evidenced by their precipitous decline in
abundance during the last several decades and poor status of population viability metrics
(abundance, population growth rates, spatial structure, and genetic diversity). Wild populations
of this species were extirpated in the nearby Salmon and Walker Creek watersheds; their
distribution has been very highly reduced in the Gualala watershed. The cause of this decline 18
Hkely the widespread degradation of habitat, particularly those habitat atiributes that support
freshwater rearing life stages. The loss of this habitat and the concurrent extirpation of local
populations have resulted in a high degree of isolation for the remaining populations.

CCC steethead is listed as a Threatened Species. Its habitat is degraded throughout the Distinct
Population Segment, especially in the two diversity strata with streams bordering San Francisco
Bay, However, the diverse life-history strategies of steelbead have helped reduce this species’
extinction risk overall. For example, the highly variable time of instream residence {one year to
several years) and spawning age allow for effective temporal dispersal within a population. Also
individuals within this species are able to spawn in multiple years, unlike coho and Chinook
saimon which die shortly afier spawning. CCC steelhead appears to be doing best in the more
coastal environments and seems more challenged, but persistent in the more inland and
urbanized areas. The overall extinction risk of this species is moderate.

The extinction risk for CC Chinook salmon, which is listed as a Threatened Species, is likely
intermediate between that of CCC coho salmon and CCC steelhead. Their habitat condition 18
somewhat better than for the other species mainly because their range lies well north of San
Francisco Bay and they do not occupy rearing habitats throughout the summer when stream
flows can be very low or negligible. However, habitat degradation is still widespread and is
particularly an issue in the upper Eel River, Excluding the reduced returns in 2007, the
resurgence in abundance in the Russian River and in other southerly watersheds of this ESU
suggests favorable conditions not entirely explained by freshwater habitat analysis. In any case,
the more restricted life-history strategy compared to steethead, relative spatial isolation of the
Russian River population, and habitat condition in the Eel River make the extinction risk for
CCC Chinook salmon higher than for CCC steethead.

%





Environmental Baseline

The environmental baseline section provides the reference point for the listed species and their
habitats within the action area to which NMFS adds the effects of the proposed action. The
action area includes the Russian River and its tributaries downstrearn of WSD and CVD. This
large action area is necessary because of the need to address the impacts of straying hatchery fish
in the watershed. However apart from that issue, our effects analysis was primarily focused omn:
1) the East Branch Russian River below CVD and the main stem Russian River from the
confluence of the East Branch to the river’s mouth at Jenner, 2) Dry Creek downstream of WSD,
and 3) areas of the Mark West Creek watershed that do not contain coho salmon, including Santa
Rosa Creek and its tributaries, and the Laguna de Santa Rosa. Because channel maintenance
activities in Zone 1A and other project actions were not proposed for portions of the Mark West
Creek watershed upstream of its largest tributary the Laguna de Santa Rosa, it was unnecessary
to focus on that portion of Zone 1A.

The environmental baseline includes the past and present impacts of all Federal, State, or private
actions and other human activities in the action area, the anticipated impacts of all proposed
Federal Projects that have already undergone consultation under Section 7 of the ESA, and the
impact of State or private actions which are contemporaneous with the consultation process. By
establishing the historical and current condition of the species and their habitat in the action area,
we describe those conditions to which the effects of the project under consultation are added in
our analysis of the project. Our ability to understand factors contributing to the baseline
condition is also important for predicting future baseline conditions and likely responses of
salmonids to the effects of the proposed action.

Urban, residential, and agricultural developments, timber harvest, road construction, water
supply and flood control management activities have had a collective adverse effect on the
quality and quantity of spawning, rearing, and migratory habitats for steelhead, coho salmon, and
Chinook salmon in the Russian River watershed. Prior to the construction in 1908 of the Potter
Valley Hydroelectric Project, which conveys water from the upper Eel River to the upper
Russian River, late summer flows in the Russian River were in the vicinity of 20 to 30 cfs. Now
with that project, the construction of Scott Dam on the Eel River, CVD, and WSD, the Russian
River sustains flows over 185 cfs throughout much of the mainstem and at least 125 cfs flows to
the ocean in most sumumers. Prior to these projects, the river’s estuary likely closed during
summer months with a barrier beach that formed a large freshwater lagoon providing high
quality rearing habitat for steethead and coho salmon.

Prior to European settlement, the mainstem Russian River was a dynamic meandering river
which migrated across its floodplain creating ox-bows and side sloughs. Most of the 110 miles
of mainstem and many hundreds of more miles in the tributaries were likely historically available
to salmonids for spawning and juvenile rearing (SEC 1996). Both the mainstem and tributaries
very likely had an abundance of large woody debris in the form of root wads and fallen logs that
created scour pools and provided cover and foraging sites for rearing salmonids (SEC 1996).
Summer flows were much lower in the mainstem; however, numerous deep pools likely stratified
and contained lower cooler layers. Stream channelization, road construction along stream





margins, bank stabilization, and water diversions in tributaries have significantly degraded
stream habitats throughout the watershed by simplifying stream channels, isolating them from
their flood plains, greatly increasing sedimentation, blocking fish migrations, and reducing or
elimunating flow and cover.

Effects of the Proposed Action

Listed salmonids are adversely affected by operations for flood control at the two project dams,
by project flow releases for water supply, by the management of estuary water levels, by the
project related hatchery operations, and by channel maintenance activities in both the mainstem
and Russian River tributaries. We did not find significant imepacts specific to the operations of
the small hvdroelectric facilities at CVD and WSD.

Flood control releases at CVD have increased the duration of high flows that scour stream
substrates and salmonid spawning habitats in the segment of the mainstem Russian River
immediately downstream of the East Branch. In addition, the project’s proposed rates of flow
ramp down of 250 cfs/hr (when flows are 250-1000 cfs} and 1000 cfs/hr (when flows exceed
1000 cfs) likely cause both CC Chinook salmon and CCC steelhead fry and juveniles to be
stranded in isolated pools or beached in dewatered areas. The stranded fry and juveniles are
likely to experience higher rates of predation. Some fry and juveniles are likely to be stranded
in disconnected pool areas that may not become reconnected depending on flow regime,
resulting in the death of these fish. Pre-flood and five-year periodic inspections at CVD,
which are conducted during late summer, adversely affect juvenile steethead because the
Corps shuis off stream flow at CVD for about two hours with resulting loss of salmonid
rearing habitat in the Bast Branch and stranding of juvenile steethead in the remaining isolated
pools. CVD is also known to release highly turbid water for extended periods well after
turbidity levels have diminished upstream of the mainstem’s confluence with the East Branch
and elsewhere m the river’s unregulated tributaries.

Flood operations at WSD likely cause minor scouring of spawning habitat in Dry Creek in the
three mile segment immediately below the dam. We estimate that 5 to 10% of the salmonid
redds constructed in this segment are likely to be scoured (i.e., lost) when WSD releases are
5000 cfs or greater. The proposed rates of ramp down for WSD flood control operations,
which are the same as above for CVD, are expected to cause stranding of fry and juvenile
salmon and steelhead in the three mile segment immediately below the dam. However, the
steep banks and lack of side channels in this segment are generally not conducive to high
stranding rates. The continuous 25 cfs minimum bypass flow at WSD will likely avoid
stranding and beaching of juvenile steelhead or coho saimon during annual pre-flood and five-
year periodic inspections.

Flood control operations at the dams will affect stream flows in Dry Creek and the main stem
during and shortly after heavy precipitation and runoff in winter or early spring. These
operations limit peak flows by storing water in the reservoirs, after which the Corps releases
those waters downstream during an extended period when flood risk has abated.

X1





During winter and early spring, the dams generally have a relatively modest influence on siream
flow in the Russian River and Dry Creek because of the substantial, unregulated inflow from
numerous tributaries. However, during the low flow season (approximately late May through
October) releases from WSD and CVD for water supply significantly affect stream flow and
available rearing habitat for steelhead and coho salmon, which rear in freshwater habitats
throughout the summer months. The project’s proposed flow management at WSD and CVD
during late spring, summer, and fall has a clear adverse effect on the availability of rearing
habitat for steethead in thel4.1 mile segment of Dry Creek, in 34 miles of the upper Russian
River, and in the river’s estuary. The project’s proposed flow management also adversely affects
the quality and quantity of rearing habitat and survival of juvenile coho salmon in Dry Creek.
Although the upper main stem Russtan River and Dry Creek support good quality spawning
habitat for listed salmonid species, salmonid fry that emerge from the gravels of Dry Creek and
the upper Russian River will encounter limited suitable quality rearing habitats because much of
the stream areas have excessive current velocities. This will lead to increased mortality of
juvenile steethead and coho salmon. The proposed flow regime will also affect the survival of
juvenile salmonids that emigrate downstream from tributaries into Dry Creek or the upper
Russian River. Fuvenile Chinook salmon rear in freshwater only until late spring or early
sumnmer when they then enter the ocean environment. For that reason, regulation of late spring
and summer flows has much less effect on rearing juvenile Chinook than the other two species.

Proposed project operations will likely have significant adverse effects on the Russian River’s
estuarine rearing habitat for each salmonid species. The proposed project will sustain high,
artificial inflows to the estuary during the low flow season and it will entail detrimental sandbar
breaching activities at the mouth that will significantly affect water quality in the lowermost
segment of the river. The artificial breaching creates a near marine envirorunent, with shaliow
depths and high salinity throughout most of the water column; in some areas salinity
stratification contributes to low dissolved oxygen at the bottom. The combination of artificially
high flows entering the estuary during summer months and the proposed plan for breaching the
estuary mouth is likely to result in the loss of productive rearing habitat for small juvenile
salmonids at the mouth of the Russian River. This habitat is lost because the Russian River
estuary will not remain closed long enough to form a freshwater lagoon during the low flow
season in most years. This degradation of estuarine habitat will contribute to reduced survival
of juvenile salmonids that emigrate to the estuary.

SCWA and MCRRFCD propose to continue bank protection, including repair or replacement of
riprap, gravel bar grading, and vegetation maintenance on the main stem Russian River. Over
the course of the 15 year project, no more than 30,000 lineal feet of the Russian River will be
affected by channel maintenance activities. This represents about 6% of the entire Russian River
mainstem. Each county may work as much as 2000 feet of main stem channel per year, but
neither county may work on more than 15,000 feet of channel over the course of the 15 year
project. Sonoma County will also conduct channel maintenance within constructed flood control
channels and portions of natural waterways within Zone 1A (largely the Laguna de Santa Rosa
and Santa Rosa Creek watersheds). We conclude that channel maintenance in the Russian River
mainstem and Zone 1A will not appreciably degrade the value of critical habitat for listed
salmonid species. However, we estimate numbers of juvenile steelhead that will likely perish

X





each year due to this maintenance activity. We also find that anticipated erosion control practices
along the banks of Dry Creek are likely to degrade rearing habitats for sabmonids.

The Corps” fish hatchery operations are required as mitigation for the ioss of wild salmon and
steelhead production due to construction of WSD and CVD. The hatchery program is currently
operated to rear and stock coho salmon and steelhead trout. The DCFH coho salmon mitigation
and enhancement program began in 1980; however, coho production at the facility was stopped
entirely in 1996, after failing to meet mitigation goals. In 2001, the Russian River Coho Salmon
Captive Broodstock Program (RRCSCBP) was initiated at DCFH to prevent extirpation of coho
salmon in the Russian River basin, preserve genetic, ecological, and behavioral attributes of
Russian River coho salmon while minimizing potential effects to other stocks and species, and to
reestablish self-sustaining runs of coho salmon in tributary streams within the Russian River
basin.

The RRCSCBP involves the colleciion of wild, juvenile coho salmon from Russian River
tributaries. The wild juveniles are reared to reproductive maturity and then artificially spawned
according to a genetic spawning matrix to maximize genetic diversity and avoid inbreeding.
Juvenile coho salmon produced from the captive broodstock are then released into several
Russian River iributaries as fry, where they rear, over-winter, migrate to the ocean, and then
return as adults to spawn naturally in the streams. Each year since 2001, the program has reared
and stocked coho salmon with lneage to wild juvenile coho salmon collected in Russian River
tributaries. The RRCSCBP also includes an evaluation component, in which the survival of
stocked juvenile coho salmon and the subseguent adult returns to tributary streams are
monitored. At present, the genetics management and evaluation components (field monitoring)
of this program do not have long term funding commitments.

The proposed continuation of the captive broodstock program will have objectives and methods
similar to the existing RRCSCBP. The RRCSCRBP is currently authorized under an ESA section
10(a){1)(A) enhancement permit issued to CDFG, which acts as a contractor to the Corps for this
hatchery requirement. Since the effects of the RRCSCBP have already been evaluated and
covered by a permit, this program is not evaluated as part of the proposed action in this
biological opinion, but it is inclnded in the Environmental Baseline of this biological opinion.
The lack of committed funding for the annual genetics management and field monitoring for the
program threatens the viability of this program. The lack of an emergency water supply line to
the DCFH also poses a significant threat io the RRCSCBP.

The steethead hatchery program was not previously authorized under the ESA. That program
involves the spawning of several hundred adults, the rearing of fry and juveniles, and the annual
stocking of a combined total of about 500,000 steelhead smolts into Dry Creek and the upper
Russian River. Recent genetic information on Russian River steethead indicates that there are no
substantial genetic differences between wild and hatchery propagated steethead in the basin.
Continued exclusion of wild steelhead from hatchery spawning stock could result m a divergent
hatchery population with reduced genetic diversity and increased inbreeding. The stocking of
hatchery smolts may have some adverse effects to wild populations through their predation or
competition with wild fish. However, we believe those effects are relatively minor, because
hatchery fish are stocked only into Dry Creek and the East Branch (near the confluence with the

X1





upper main stem Russian River) when they are in a migratory stage and not acclimated to
survival in the wild, and most migrate within a few weeks to the ocean. The hatchery program
also promotes a fishery for marked adult hatchery fish in the mainstem Russian River; that

fishery results in the capture {with barbless hooks) and release of wild steelhead, coho salmon,
and Chinook salmon.

The principal effect of the water diversion facility at Mirabel Wohler is the loss of juvenile
salmonids that may become entrained through or impinged on the water intake screens. Some
minor loss of salmonids may also be caused by higher rates of predation from fishes (e.g., pike
minnow, smallmouth bass) in the Wohler impoundment or from stranding when the inflatable
dam is inflated or deflated.

Integration and Synthesis

Project Effects on Critical Habitar

Because adult fail run CC Chinook salmon primarily migrate to spawning habitats during mud to
late fall and the resulting progeny migrate downstream to the ocean during the following spring,
flow management at WSD and CVD does not have significant adverse consequences for this
species. Migrations of adult Chinook salmon appear to actually benefit from the elevated
regnlated flows during fali months, and rearing juveniles do not contend with the artificially high
summer flows that limit available rearing habitat for the other Federally listed salmonid species.
Although channel maintenance activities will likely have some adverse effect on spawning and
rearing habitats for Chinook salmon, these effects will probably be minor because each year,
channel maintenance will affect only a small portion (less than 1 mile) of the 94 mile long main
stem Russian River. This 94 mile segment effectively supports rearing habitat for juvenile
Chinook salmon along its entire length and spawning habitat at riffles along the approximately
58 mile segment upstream from Healdsburg. Ongoing channel maintenance activities in Dry
Creek will likely diminish available rearing habitat for Chinook salmon; however, the extent of
habitat Joss for rearing Chinook salmon in Dry Creek due to ongoing channel maintenance
activities is likely minor given the availability of rearing habitat for this species throughout the
main stem Russian River. We conclude that, if the proposed project is implemented, critical

habitat for Chinook sahmon would remain functional to serve the intended conservation role for
this species.

In contrast to the findings for Chinook salmon, the proposed project will likely have sigmficant
adverse effects on the critical habitat of steelhead and coho salmon. Because of these adverse
effects, critical habitat for steelhead and coho salmon would not be functional fo serve the
intended conservation role for these species. Proposed flow releases from WSD and CVD
during the approximately six-month long, low flow season will create excessively high current
velocities that will greatly limit the value of 14 miles of Dry Creek and 34 miles of the upper
Russian River as rearing habitat for steelhead. Flow management at the project’s reservoirs and
breaching of the estuary’s bar will also adversely affect the value of steelhead rearing habitat in
and near the vicinity of the estuary. Flow releases from WSD during summer and fall months
will be so high that available habitat for rearing juvenile coho in Dry Creek will be minimal,
Proposed continued channel maintenance activities in Dry Creek will contribute to armoring the

X1V





stream banks, reducing velocity refuge areas for fishes during high flows, and simplifying stream
channel morphology with potential degradation of both summer and winter rearing habitats for
steeihead and coho salmon. The significance of these impacts to critical habitat for rearing
steethead and coho salmon becomes apparent when the status of critical habitat for these species
is considered.

Our review of the status of populations of CCC steelhead in the Russian River indicate that
freshwater rearing habitat is one of the two primary types of critical habitat that are most
degraded. In the Russian River watershed and nearby watersheds, degradation of steelhead
rearing habitat is due to channel modifications, chronic deposition of fine sediments, and
intensive diversions of surface flow in tributaries. The restoration of viable populations of
steelhead within these watersheds will depend upon the restoration of good quality freshwater
rearing habitats, including ecologically diverse habitats such as freshwater lagoons and deep
main stern habitats for older age 1+ and 2+ fish. The restoration of viable populations of
Russian River steelhead would substantially improve the chances for the recovery of the CCC
steelhead DPS. However, as proposed, the project’s flow management plan (i.e., conformance
with D1610, water supply releases, and water elevation management in the estuary) will hamper
efforts to recover this species by degrading and, in some cases, eliminating important freshwater
habitats in the Russian River.

Likewise, the availability of rearing habitat for coho salmon has been greatly reduced in the
Russian River watershed and elsewhere as the result of numerous developmental activities. Coho
salmon require especially cold water in which to rear, and developmental activities have
undoubtediy limited the availability of such coldwater habitats. As discussed in the Effects
Section, approximately 13 miles of Dry Creek provide temperatures that sustain rearing coho
saimon; however, high flow releases from WSD during summer and fall months greatly limit the
value of the PCE of critical habitat for rearing coho salmon. The proposed project operations
appreciably degrade the value of Dry Creek’s critical habitat for CCC coho salmon. Successful
recovery of this species will very likely require protection, restoration, and enhancement of
existing rearing habitats for this species. Given that the Russian River is the largest watershed
occupied by CCC coho salmon and that it is centrally located in this ESU, it is unlikely that the
CCC coho can be recovered without a successful restoration of ceho salmon habitat and runs in
the Russian River.

Project Effects on Species Survival and Recovery

We conclude that the proposed project operations are not likely to appreciably reduce the
likelihood of CC Chinook salmon survival and recovery in the Russian River. We conclude this
because the project is unlikely to reduce the abundance of spawners, the growth rate, spatial
structure, or genetic diversity of the Russian River population of Chinook salmon. We base this
finding on the following facts: 1) the population has experienced a generally positive growth
over the past ten years, 2) the project does not cause significant adverse effects to the species’
habitat, 3) the project will maintain the same freshwater conditions that have supported the
recent growth of the Chinook salmon population, and 4) the action does not impact the species in
such a way as to make it more vuinerable to other factors and environmental variation that are
outside the control of the action.

XV





Uniike the situation for Chinook salmon, the proposed project will likely have substantial
adverse effects on both the coho salmon population and several steelhead populations in the
Russian River watershed. The proposed flow management plan for CVD and WSD, the water
level management plan for the river’s estuary, and the ongoing channel maintenance activities in
Dry Creek substantially influence the abundance, growth rate, and spatial structure of
populations of steelhead and coho salmon in the Russian River. As proposed, the flow
management plan will perpetuate status quo flows that strongly influence habitat suitability while
the steelhead populations in the watershed experience negative growth trends due to other
diverse developmental activities throughout the watershed. Elevated inflows to the estuary, the
upper mainstem, and Dry Creek during the low flow season, and channel maintenance activities
will continue to suppress populations of steelhead in the basin and impair recovery processes;
instead populations of steelhead will likely continue to decline through degradation of habitats
stemming from status quo project operations and diverse non-project related activities. Given
that the Russian River supports nine steelhead populations, including one functionally
independent population and six potentially independent steethead populations, and that the
river’s populations span two of the five diversity strata (i.e., major groups of populations) within
the CCC steelhead, the survival and recovery of this DPS will likely depend on successful efforts
to increase the abundance, spatial structure, diversity, and growth rates of Russian River
steelhead populations. Likewise, given the central location of the Russian River in the range of
CCC coho and that the watershed represents a third of the ESU by area, the survival and
recovery of CCC coho salmon will likely depend on a substantial positive trend in the growth
rate and abundance of coho salmon in the Russian River. The cobo population is appreciably
affected by the continued loss of juveniie coho that are likely displaced from Dry Creek due to
high summer flows that limit habitat availability and by the continued channel maintenance

practices that prohibit natural channel processes that create suitable rearing habitats for the
species.

Conclusions

After reviewing the best available scientific and commercial data, the current status of the
species, the environmental baseline for the action area, the effects of the proposed action, and the
cumulative effects, it is NMFS’ biological opinion that the continued operations of CVD and
WSD for a fifteen year period in a manner similar to recent historic practices together with
SCWA’s proposed ongoing water diversions from the Russian River and its proposed stream
channel maintenance activities, estuary management, and hydroelectric project operations at
CVD and WSD are not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of threatened CC Chinook
Salmon. However, we find that the continued operations of CVD and WSD in a manner similar
to recent historic practices together with proposed Dry Creek stream channel maintenance

activities and estuary management are likely to jeopardize the continued existence of threatened
CCC steelhead and endangered CCC coho salmon,

After reviewing the best available scientific and commercial data, the current status of the critical
habitat, the environmental baseline for the action area, the effects of the proposed action, and the
cumulative effects, it is NMFS biological opinion that the continued operations of CVD and
WSD for a fifteen year period in a manner similar to recent historic practices together with

xvi





SCWA's proposed stream channel maintenance activities and estuary management are likely to
adversely modify critical habitat for CCC coho salmon and CCC steelhead. It is NMFS opinion
that the proposed project is not likely to adversely modify critical habitat for CC Chinook
salmon.

Reasonabi.e and Prudent Alternative

To avoid the likelihood of jeopardy to the species and adverse modification of critical habitat,
NMFS has collaborated with the Corps and SCWA in developing a Reasonable and Prudent
Alternative (RPA) for this project that is consistent with the intended purpose of the action, can
be implemented consistent with the legal authority and jurisdictions of the Corps and SCWA, is
economically and technologically feasible, and would avoid the likelihood of jeopardizing the
continued existence of listed species or the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.
This RPA involves implementation of the project as described in Section IIT of this biological
opinion, with modifications and additional actions as described in Section X A of this opinion.
In summary, new or modified actions that will be part of the Russian River Water Supply and
Flood Controt Project will include:

1. SCWA will petition the SWRCB to change minimum bypass flows identified m D1610
for the mainstern Russian River and Dry Creek. SCWA will also complete all necessary
environmental documentation and other activities within its jurisdiction to promote
changes to D1610 minimum flow standards as identified in Section X.A.1

SCWA will collaborate with NMFS and modify their estuary water level management in

order to reduce marine influence (i.e., high salinity and tidal inflow) in the estuary and

promote a higher water surface elevation in the estuary for purposes of enhancing the
quality of rearing habitat for age 0+ and 1+ steelhead. A program of potential
incremental steps is described to address this issue. These include adaptive management
of the outlet channel, investigation and possible elimination of impacts of the jetty at the
river’s mouth on Jagoon formation, and alternative approaches to flood risk reduction

(e.g., elevating structures or other methods). SCWA will monitor the response of water

quality, invertebrate production, and salmonids in and near the estuary to water surface

elevation management in the estuary-lagoon system.

3. The Corps and SCWA will implement and monitor on-the~ground enhancements of
rearing habitat that will avoid adverse modification of critical habitat and appreciably
increase the survival of juvenile salmonids in Dry Creek during both summer and winter
months. To do this, SCWA will enhance the quality and quantity of pool habitat along
the 14 mile segment of Dry Creek and install boulder clusters to improve rearing habitat
for steethead and coho salmon in Dry Creek. These enhancements, which will ameliorate
habitat conditions adversely affected by high summer flow releases, will be distributed at
several locations along Dry Creek and the timing of their installation will be staggered to
begin by Year 5 and be completed by Year 12. Because the initial design, permitting,
and construction of this work will take up to five years to complete, SCWA will also
restore or otherwise enhance rearing habitat for salmonids in tributaries that enter Dry
Creek downstream of WSD or other Russian River tributaries supporting coho salmon
and steethead by the end of Year 3 covered by this opinion. The Corps will assist the

o

xvii





SCWA in promoting enhancements of winter high flow refuge habitat for rearing coho
and steelhead in Dry Creek.

SCWA will investigate the feasibility of constructing a pipeline to deliver water from
Lake Sonoma to the mainstem of the Russian River in order to reduce the adverse effects
of relatively high flow releases from W8D on rearing habitat for coho salmon and
steelhead. An assessment of bypass pipeline alternatives will enable SCWA to identify
the best method to ensure water deliveries while meeting salmonid habitat needs in Dry
Creek in the unlikely event that habitat enhancement efforts in Dry Creek are
unsuccessful in supporting successful growth and survival of juvenile steelhead and coho
salmon,

The Corps will strengthen the Russian River Coho Saimon Captive Broodstock Program
(RRCSCBP) by conducting needed 1) annual genetics analysis and 2) annual monitoring
of the distribution and survival of stocked juvenile salmon and the subsequent return of
adult coho to the Russian River.

SCWA will fund the implementation of an expansion of the RRCSCBP to include the
annual rearing and stocking of 10,000 coho smolts genetically managed via the wild coho
broodstock program.

The Corps will install a new back-up water supply pipeline fo the Warm Springs
Haichery, and complete construction of additional rearing facilities for the coho salmon
broodstock program.

Consistent with recent historic monitoring efforts, SCWA will annually monitor the
upstream migration of adult salmonids at the Mirabel Dam between late August and late
fall, and they will annually monitor downstream migration of juvenile salmonids past the
Mirabel Dam during spring and early summer for 15 years.

Incidental Take Statement

This biological opinion provides an Incidental Take Statement for the faking of listed salmonids
that is likely to occur due to the implementation of the proposed action and RPA for this project.
Under the terms of section 7(b){4) and section 7(0)(2), the identified incidental take s not
considered to be prohibited taking under the ESA, provided that it is in comphiance with the
Terms and Conditions included with the incidental take statement.

Key terms and conditions include:

i

2.

The Corps will initiate a study, complete a feasibility report, and then construct a low
flow bypass pipe at the CVD by October 1, 2013.

The Corps will conduct a field study to investigate potential alternative ramp down
criteria for flood control releases to try and minimize stranding downstream from CVD.
The Corps will adjust ramping rates to minimize impacts to fisheries if they will allow
flood control to be maintained.

The Corps will conduct studies to investigate the effects of CVD and WSD operations on
turbidity in the Russian River. If turbidity from CVD or WSD is adversely affecting
listed salmonids, the Corps shall complete and begin implementation of a plan to
minimize and avoid these adverse effects by no later than 2014,

X VIt





. The Corps, SCWA, MCRRFCD or their designees shall ensure that relocation of
salmonids from in-channel flood control work areas is accomplished by means that
minimize harm and mortalities of listed salmonids.

SCWA shall complete design of the new fish screen at Mirabel within three years of the
issuance of this biological opinion, and replace the fish screen within three years after
completion of the design. Also within three vears of the issuance of this opinion, SCWA
shall decommission or modify the infiltration ponds on the East side of the Russian River
at the Mirabel/Wohler facility to prevent fish entrapment in these ponds durning flood
events.

. For the next fifteen years, the Corps will conduct genetic management and genetic
assessment of the DCFF and CVFF steelhead programs.

SCWA shall undertake measures to ensure that injury and mortality to listed salmonids
resulting from fish monitoring at Mirabel dam, in the estuary, and in Dry Creek are low.
SCWA will undertake measures to ensure that harm and monrtality to listed salmonids
from adaptive management of the sandbar at the mouth of the Russian River are low.

Xix





Endangered Species Act
Section 7 Consultation

BIOLOGICAL OPINION

for

Water Supply, Flood Control Operations, and Channel Maintenance
conducted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the Sonoma County
Water Agency, and the Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control
and Water Conservation Improvement District in the Russian River

watershed
PCTS Tracking Number: E/SWR/2006/07316
Action Agency: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, San Francisco District

Consultation Conducted By: National Marine Fisheries Service, Southwest Region

Date Issued: September 24, 2008











TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF ACRONYNMS L.ieiiiietieeiiee e ieeesanessssessases ssssssmsscrosssssssssossosrasassasesssss tossssssassson s samesenenemssesestoseossssnassssranes ¥
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY oo ceesiier s ets s crsesssntas hssessstsststasosssssssesseesensvassnasssssasesomssmseesssesssomsesessseessssanns V1

NTRODUCTION 1
I. IN TTON ot reeenssnsane srerearesnnne veriremsrensbers s e sssarees

A. ORGANIZATION OF THE BIOLOGICAL OPRINION .ot iee vt veseetesssesemrsssasssssseasesseesssasaessesenssssassessssensaesessasns 2
B. UNCERTAINTY AND KEY ASSUMEPTIONS Lottt tiitimimtesbimmtieeeeeseeseeseeseae e aetsmeeseeeesaeaaeee e tesarsssesessessartersessasmaseeesses 3
C. ECOLOGICAL CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK _...eooiieeoreereeeeisreaesereeesre e iaareraresseesessssen sassasssessessessssnsesssssonsensesesers

IIL. CONSULTATION HISTORY..cnsismmsrnisersossesnenesens RO . cresreesere 10

1II. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED ACTION vvcircvvecnrisesnsssunne . TN 14

B PROJECT ELEMENTS... 15
Non-flood Water Suppiy Re!eases R R TeRr bt et et et e et e e ehe s hea e eresen b en e mnesunasasasrasereesseanerrensenseear d O
Estuary Manag@ement ........covonivinis it 20
Channel Maintenance Actions..... 21
Reservoir Flood Controi Operations - Coyote Valley Dam and Warm Springs Damt ....c.ccooovveevreven e 33
o HGECREIY OPEFUONS (occocoi ittt e ee e een e e et em s ns s et e eee s et e reeenetan e s e atan e nranneenn 38
. Hydroelectric Facilities et Coyote Valley and Warm Springs Dams 41
C. !NTERRELATED AND INTERDEPENDENT ACTIONS.......coominnecvinrnn o ranesierennns 43

1. Water Diversion Opea ations.. 43
D. ACTION AREA .. bt OO SNRSINR . .

IV. STATUS OF THE SPECIES AND CRITICAL HABITAT. versarerseestessnnsearersiarenar 49

A. LIFE HISTORY... RSt bttt e ety g e R RS Aer g eR AR eEeTeIet e A A ea TR SaRRe rRT e A e R ar shRe e R vRRre Rt neras e iranes
B. SPECIES \’msluw ASSESbMENT
C. CRITICAL HABITAT STATUS cooeeevrervevorirmeree e stteeees s essnsesesssssssssssasees .

V. ENVIRONMENTAL BASELINE oo . rerveernernenes 90

A. CONDITION OF HABITAT/CRITICAL HABITAT WITHIN THE ACTION AREA oottt stse e seas 90
{. Historical Habitat Conditions within the Action Area.. et ea b aereaiearerie e n e e e anennreieaas 20
2. Current Condition of Habitat/Critical Habitat within the A cfton AJ o1+ SO
3. Conservation Role of Specific Habitat Areas within the Action Area
B. STATUS OF LISTED SPECIES WITHIN THE ACTION AREA
F ROk SO o oo eea s e e e te s s et et eeee s ens e s s eeenaons
2. Q0RO SAIMOM. c....cooreverorri e et ts ettt eee e eeeee e eerenee s e s v s eeseeeaneen
3. Steelhead

R N N

Coyote Falley Dam QPEIraIIGIS ... e e esaeee s e es e s st abaer e b sttt e
Warm Springs Dam Operations
HydroCletric OPErUIONS ....oc.ocoiieeeee ettt v sasos s sssessssanss s st b s st sin st sassions st ssnans sesesessansssaeessennas
Water Diversion Facilities ..o ivvareceeeeceereeeeinn
Channe! Maintenance
SO A RESEIVOIFS ... oirviarvevervsiss e stiees st eoe et ene s et essaas s 21eresee et antsesre s eme b et ema s ot oot s e sreemesmsbettmanebsemssrvananans
Estuary Breaching ...
Artificial Propaszaz‘ron and Supplememanon of Saimomcis .......................................................................... 132
Monitoring of DCFHICVFF HAtehery OPEIaiONS .....oo.oeeevcveeeeeeeeeerreeeeee s eosassas s e ssasesscssssesssnans 137

Main stem Russian River CRERBEIEZMION ..ottt in s b et et arars s oo 138
c ABTICHTIUPE e et ettt ee et r et oo et e ee e e eee 1 E oAt e et ee et et sabe s 138
UrDan DEVEIGDIMER ..ot tare s e sns et ssres s enis b sssssrs st sres st rssnsra s ensensnssarssnrasnsrens § 30
13, INSErEam RO CHOSSIES .......ovoureoreireicerecieeneesr s ees et sss s m s as s ss s s s ease e es et es et bt 139
B SIGIT DIBIS oottt et er e oo st esee s er e e esene e reenn e 139

NN PR N PR

ane T
A

i





15, (GFEVET FXIFGCHON wooeiree e eeescvevrisssestresesaesesssass setesbesstesar s bt e ans A rmt e s b s smemsced e heE S a AL E s 1A r T T L e o e se e s bam b s s e e T r4!
L6, TTHBCE FHFVEST oo sesesessessessasesss seees s oo ssas s areestems et ansas amserntrsssesssseastrssasassnsssnsnserssonsrosccsnaninsicssnsessnns d 41
17, FIShEries MOma@EmMER L. ... oo.vcuvveeciroeriaeeereresissas it s st r b e e e AP b st 142
T8, W10 DIVEFSIONS veooeesosesesoesevesssesssssmasssssseess seeeanesaeseasas e sanaers rnmnraesensressasansssrasssssenassassrcnsnrroneceniemsenssnsssanes D43
TG RESIOTGHON ACUOR ooesoees s sises st sors e sseesses s sereasssassassaneensesemoaresstaominntranessssssisassssssnsssssssssoraerenessrecmsssascrsnres 83

D0 NGO VRIS ooeeveeveseesssesssssssmesseasesseamestessts snsassssaarars e beseanan st s s eaassen tase eeneha g e EE P aaad 1o ks e rhr R e 1Ar fhSep s rrsnsmn et Reaaas 143

VI, EFFECTS OF THE PROPOSED ACTION e vimvntscssssssansssssssssrsssnaees ervaveareen .. 145
A. FLOOD CONTROL - COYOTE VALLEY DAM OPERATIONS .. teeereeseeestonneseesenesere ternestrrssneseeseressrarsasesiaeas 143
B. HYDROELECTRIC FACILITY AT COYOQTE VALLEY DaMm .. . 154
C. FLOOD CONTROL - WARM SPRINGS DAM OPERATIONS ...................... rrteesreeesrsarentareasenseesnssonesesssensnne 1 30
D. WARM SPRINGS DAM HYDROELECTRIC FACILITY .o ; 158
B H AT CHERY O P ERATIONS oot eeeeteete e eristesstsessres 152100 gan s aa aesesmeeserassesambadbbssbertsrad e par e aArdsResbaebenmnratsbnsnssbnsinss 159

F, FLOW MANAGEMENT ..ovivceivirreerrisesressrmsisnsssssreniens et rtemsssasets st s e srarrsrerenresassensronneseanees 1 O
G B STUARY AN AGEMENT ovetieresvesvesrarasassastostsssnettiasassonsessssases ssesssssiansscs sreacesorsiatsoibin 20nsraaresinsvrnarasnsasrorinsssss 184
H. CHANNEL MAINTENANCE - MAIN STEM AND DRY CREEK (.11 viiiiirrieni st inivssas s st snsmaa s b 198

[, CHANNEL MAINTENANCE - ZONE 1A CONSTRUCTED AND NATURAL WATERWAYS ..o 205

J. CENTRAL SONOMA WATERSHED PROJECT FLOOD CONTROL RESERVOIRS. .1 eereeeereeniccressssssnsrermiasnssvenn 1 8
B, LB ANIZATIEIN oot veveecrerereareeaeressaseesttraradsasns onserissanrees Par et o5 AT e eressegans brmsd b smssbd e bassaara b et e adTa s T e bR snsdmnbedbaedenssasbns n 218
L. INTERRELATED AND INTERDEPENDENT ACTIVITIES. .1 otivrorrriesisiesssonssasreeesrtsssasarsossnsssasinmsiiassasaesessssssnssnssates 218
VII. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS...ccccoensevennns rrersssensasessainsserarssasas serssesrsnssneresssrsrnsssssanrensansesavarns 224
VHIL INTEGRATION AND SYNTHESIS OF EFFECTS ...nmerrsnrsresnassenn srereereennar 225
A T EC AL H A BT AT ¢ oesive et eeeiesevesssareresereseesebessbts £rasaaanar st st besnsenscnsere rstansseersmcedsente bt Lhsbans babsrsassizarssepssneessnbinstianes 226

1. Flow Management Effects on Critical Habitat........... e 226

2. Estuarine Management Effects on Critical Habitat.,. ...231

3. Flood Channel Maintenance Effects on Critical Habrta! ereeeetenebeseentareeesensrensnnsr s e A 32
4. Water Diversion Facility and Hydroelectric PmJecr Eﬁears on C: mcai Habuaz...,................................‘,...235‘

3. Swmmary of Project Effects on Critical Habitat ... SOV PO ORI o &
By SPECTIES ..oviorrveseeerreemresesesese s e teatosstrassbasa s se e e st s s b e s b sas a3 sha R oms sem et babbsaek TR A SR R e A r e TS 234
1. Project Effects on Chinook Saimon Survival and Recovery ..o it eeeeeeesietiberraea et e e ans 235

2. Project Effects on Steelhead Survival and RECOVETY ... cvvimsiormismminrsnsissssissssssrmssssssssessesnnes s 439
3. Project Effects on Coho Salmon Survival and RECOVETY ... voiimsoniriasnsnssseraesssissssssssemsessssssiassseeesess 237
4. Summary of Project Effects on Species Survival Qnd RECOVEIY ... ermmnnnsosisisssscssnssssss s 839

IX, CONCLUSIONS. .ccorrmreersicsssencnsns aeenearraerrestsanansnsrer w2440
X. REASONABILE AND PRUDENT ALTERNATIVE.............. crvessaraeres 241
A, PROJECT MODIFICATIONS AND NEW PROJECT ELEMENTS OF THE REASONABLE AND PRUBENT
ALTERNATIVE.. .
I, Pursue C]mnrres ft) D/61’0 Flow.s ...........................................................................................................
2. Alterations to Estuary Management ...........cvvinrinnnns SO U U OSSO U ORN YN
3. Dy Creek Habitai ERRORCERTENLS ..ottt e st e snd s s e
4. Coho Broodstock Program Enhancements
3. Annual Monitoring of Salmonid Migration in the Russian River at Mirabel/Wohier and Dry Creek ........275
6. Funding Assurances for Purposes of Consistency Determination for CESA. ..o 278
B. EFsECTS OF THE RPA ON CC CHINQOK SALMON, CCC STEELHEAD, AND CCC COHO SALMON...........280
1. Effects of the RPA on Steclhead Survival and ReCoVery ... 280
2. Effects of the RPA on Steelhead Critical Habilah ... ..ot 285
3. Effects af the RPA on Coho Survival and Recovery.... OSSOSO USRS RUP RO, /4
4. Effecis of the RPA on Coho Satmon Critical Habtm!ZQ.?
5. Effects of the RPA on Chinook salmon survival and réCovery. ... i s 293
6. Effects of the RPA on Chinook salmon Critical Habitar.......... ettt et e ettt tonesanateterneeratinaateerntas e rnrntn 294

i





X1, INCIDENTAL TAKE STATEMENT ..oocivivnnenrsinininsnsinnnennens e wreseansrnnenens 290

A. AMOUNT OR EXTENT OF TAKE .. s
Water Supply releases from WSD and CVD
Adaptive EStaring Breaeliing ..o isicsinsies s st st e e ebanas
Flood Controf at WSD and CVD
. Prefloodiperiodic inspections at CVD
. Turbidity Releases from CVD
. Hatchery Operations
. Channel Maintenance Activities in Mamsrem Diry Creek, and Zorie 1 A oo e e 309
Water Diversions Including Maintenance
. Sedmonit MORTEOFIRE ..ot e s e b e s
i U Dry Creek Habitat Enhancements
B. EFFECT OF TAKE ..
C. REASONABLE AND PRUD{:M MEASURES AI\D TLRMS AND CONDi rloz\s .
RPM 1: Undertake measures to ensure that havm and mortality to listed salmmuds from adtrpttve

\0.00\10\‘-‘-4\5»5\):-\

management of the bar at the mouth of the Russian Rivar are ow. ... 318
RPM 2: Undertake measures to ensure that harn and mortality 1o listed salmonids from pre-flood/periodic
maintenance @t CVI Qre JoWa ..o st er e et e e et e 319
RPM 3: Undertake measures to ensure that harm and morralig-' to listed salmonids from r:zmpfng
procedures at CVD are low. .............. e 320
RPM4: Undertake measures m ass:st NM FS in deter mmmg tlze ammmt of z‘ake resulzmg ﬁ "o turbtdzty
releases ar CVD. ... e 324

RPM 5: Undes mlse measures to ensure z!mt harm ami mormi:ty ta hsted m!momds resultmg ﬁ Ot Dr;y
Creck and tributary habitat enhancements and channel maintenance activities in the mainstenr Russian

Rivar, Dry Creek, and Zone T4, GFe FOW. ..o eser st ea et see e sest e stee s reeres et b arms bt e basabbrabe e s 323
RPM 6: Undertake measares to ensure that harm and moriality to listed salmonids from diversion
operations, maintenance, and fish screen replacement at Wohler and Mivabel avelow. .....ovveeee 327

RPM 7: The Corps (and CDFG) shall operate the DCFH and CVFF steelhead programs in @ manner that
minimizes adverse genetic efj"ects to steelhead within the Russian River and within the CCC steelhead DPS.
- 329
RPM 8 SCWA shall undermhe measures to ensure rhat mjury arza’ mortalzty za lzsted salmoma‘s iesuifiﬂa
Jrom fish monitoring at Mirabel diversion dam, in the estuary, and in Dry Creek are low. ... 330

XII. CONSERVATION RECOMMENDATIONS ..onnieernrnens " verermsecereennes 333

XIIL REINITIATION NOTICE ....covveeee

iv





Table of Acronyms

Ac-ft acre-feet

BA Biological Assessment

CDFG California Dept. Fish & Game

CESA California Endangered Species Act
CHART Critical Habitat Analytical Review Team
CIE Center for Independent Experts

Corps U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

CVD Coyote Valley Dam

CVFF Coyote Valley Fish Facility

D1610 SWRCB Water Right Decision 1610
DCFH Don Clausen Fish Hatchery

DPS Distinct Population Segment

ESA Endangered Species Act

ESU Evolutionarily Significant Unit

EWSL Emergency water supply line

FMEP Fishery Management & Evaluation Plan
HGMP Hatchery and Genetic Management Plan
L.MHPP Lake Mendocino Hydroelectric Power Plant
LWD Large woody debris

MCRRFCD Mendocine County Russian River Flood Control and Water Conservation
Improvement District

MOU Memorandum Of Understanding

NCPA Northern California Power Agency- (member: City of Ukiah)
NCRWQCB North Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board

NMFS National Marine Fisheries Service

PCE Primary Constituent Element (of critical habitat)

ppm parts per million

ppt parts per thousand

RCD Resource Conservation District

RPA Reasonable and Prudent Alternative

RRCSCBP  Russian River Coho Salmon Captive Broodstock Program
SCWA Sonoma County Water Agency

SWRCB State Water Resources Control Board

TRT Technical Recovery Team (for listed species Recovery Plans)
VSP Viable Salmon Population

WSD Warm Springs Dam

WWTP Wastewater Treatment Plants

YOY Young-of-Year (i.e., age 0+ fish)





EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Pursuant to Section 7(a)(2) of the Federal Endangered Species Act (ESA), NOAA’s National
Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) consulted with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers {Corps)
regarding its operations of Warm Springs Dam (WSD) and Coyote Valley Dam (CVD) and a
suite of activities that are authorized by the Corps and underiaken by the Sonoma County Water
Agency (SCWA) and the Mendocino County Russian River Flood Control and Water
Conservation Improvement District (MCRRFCD). The Corps, the SCWA, and the MCRRFCD
have proposed to implement, for an additional 15 years, ongoing practices and operations at
WSD and CVD and activities related to flood control, water diversion and storage, regulation of
flows in the Russian River and Dry Creek, estuary management, hydroelectric power generation,
channel maintenance, and fish hatchery production.

These actions likely affect Central California Coast (CCC) steethead (Oncorhynchus mykiss),
CCC coho salmon (O. kisutch), and California Coastal (CC) Chinook salmon (0. tshawytscha),
each of which is protected as threatened or endangered under the ESA. The proposed actions
also likely affect designated critical habitat for these species. The purpose of this consultation is
to provide a determination regarding whether the Corps has insured that the proposed project is
not likely to jeopardize one or more of these species or destroy or adversely modify their
designated critical habitat. If a project is found to jeopardize a species or adversely modify its
critical habitat, NMFS must develop a Reasonable and Prudent Alternative (RPA) to the
proposed project in coordination with the federal action agency and any applicant. If the project
is also expected to result in the incidental take of listed species, NMFS must also provide

reasonable and prodent measures (RPM’s) to minimize and monitor the impact of the incidental
take of listed species.

In this document, we present our analysis and conclusions in the conventional format for
biclogical opinions as described in the Endangered Species Consultation Handbook (U.S. Fish
and Wildlife Service and NMFS 1998). This biological opinion includes reviews of the
Consultation History, a Description of the Proposed Action, the Status of the Species and
Critical Habitat, and the Environmental Baseline. Following those reviews we provide an
analysis of the Effects of the Proposed Action, Cumulative Effects, and an Integration and
Synthesis section in which we analyze the effects of the project in the context of the species
status and environmental baseline. This biological opinion concludes with NMFS’ determination
regarding the impacts of this proposed project on the species’ likelihood of survival and
recovery, and on the value of the species’ critical habitat. Because we have determined that this
proposed project is likely to jeopardize the continued existence of some of the salmonid species
affected by the proposed project, and adversely modify their critical habitats, we have provided a
Reasonable and Prudent Alternative (RPA) to the proposed action that 1) avoids jeopardy to the
species and adverse modification of critical habitat, 2) can be implemented in a manner
consistent with the intended purpose of the action, 3) is economically and technically feasible,
and 4) is within the Jegal authorities of the Corps, SCWA, and MCRRFCD.

vi





The Proposed Action

NMFS analyzed the effects of continued operation of the Russian River Water Supply and Flood
Control Project (Project) for a 15 year period on ESA-listed threatened and endangered salmonid
species within the Russian River watershed. The Project includes operation of two dams and
appurtenant facilities in the Russian River watershed. Together, these facilities are operated to
control flooding within the watershed, to supply water to users within and outside the watershed,
and to generate hydroelectric power., The altered flow regimes caused by the Project change the
natural hydrology of the Russian River estuary, and artificial breaching of a barrier beach at the
mouth of the river is often required to prevent flooding adjacent to the estuary. In addition, the
Project includes channel maintenance activities that keep the water delivery system functional
and reduce the impacts of flooding in the mainstem and some tributaries of the Russian River.
The Project also includes operation of two fish hatchery facilities, the Don Clansen Fish
Hatchery (DCFH) located at WSD and the Coyote Valley Fish Facility (CVFF) at CVD. .
SCWA’s scope of maintenance responsibilities covered under this Biological Opinion includes
maintenance of stream channels and small reservoirs throughout most of an area that SCWA
terms Zone 1A, which consists of the Laguna de Santa Rosa watershed, as well as maintenance
activities on the Russian River main stem and the segment of Dry Creek downstream from WSD.
The Corps’ maintenance activities include safety inspections at the two dams. In addition,
MCRRFCD conducts channel maintenance activities related to the CVD in the Mendocino
County portion of the Russian River. Channel maintenance by both counties is related fo Federal
sites and inspection of levees under Public Law 84-99 (non Federal sites), but this consultation
does not include implementation of the current Corps Operations and Maintenance manual for
channel maintenance in the Russian River watershed. Instead, NMFS is consulting on channel
maintenance practices as described in Section 11LB and referenced to the Corps and SCWA’s
Biological Assessment where appropriate.

In the initial draft of this Biological Opinion, dated July 11, 2007, NMFS analyzed the
implementation of ongoing project operations for ten years, because SCWA and the Corps were
contemplating potential complex, future changes in project flow release schedules associated
with new water rights and other avenues for increasing reservoir water supplies. Such changes
were likely to take at least ten years to accomplish. We were unable to fully analyze both short-
term ongoing and future water supply scenarios because of the uncertainties and limited
available information about those future scenarios. Originally, the Corps, SCWA, and NMFS
agreed that it was prudent to evaluate project effects for the next ten year period because future
changes in water supply operations contemplated by SCWA would likely take ten years to fully
analyze and develop the permits and water rights agreements/decisions that may yield additional
water rights and water supply that would affect flows and habitat in the Russian River and Dry
Creek.

During work on the RPA, the Corps, SCWA, and NMFS determined that a major component of
the RPA would take up to fifteen years to complete. The remediation of project impacts to
designated critical habitat in Dry Creek would take 12 to 15 years to accomplish. NMFS
transmitted a working draft biological opinion to the Corps and SCW A on August 1, 2008, and
indicated that the timeframe for analysis of the origina! proposed project would need to be
changed from ten years to fifleen years (NMFS 2008b). NMFS also indicated in transmitting the

vil





working draft that the RPA did not ensure that resulting project operations would not likely
jeopardize the continued existence of listed species or result in the destruction or adverse
modification of critical habitat. Because the project’s impact on critical habitat could not be fully
addressed in a ten year period, NMFS, the Corps, and SCWA agreed to amend the period of the
proposed project from ten to fifteen years (Russian River Project Executive Committee Meeting
August 4, 2008). The RPA’s approaches to addressing impacts to critical habitat were also

discussed between SCWA and NMFS and modified subsequent to the August 1, 2008 working
drafi.

The water supply and flood control elements of the Project involve the regulation of fiood flows
to control flooding in properties adjacent to the Russian River, and the storage of water in two
reservoirs to be released for water supply in Sonoma, Mendocino, and Marin counties during the
spring, summer, and fall. The water supply is released from the reservoirs and flows down the
main stern Russian River and Dry Creek to diversion points downstream of the dams. Part of the
water stays in the river channel and flows to the Pacific Ocean at the river’s mouth near Jenner.

The diverted water is delivered to end-users for municipal, industrial, agricultural, and domestic
uses.

The keystone elements of the project are CVD, on the East Branch headwaters of the Russian
River, and WSD on Dry Creek, a main tributary of the Russian. Russian River water is released
from Lake Mendocino (the reservoir formed by CVD) for flood control, and, under the
requirements of the State Water Resources Control Board’s (SWRCB) Decision 1610 (D1610)
for water supply. The Coyote Valley Fish Facility (CVFF) was constructed in 1992 at the base of
CVD to mitigate for the loss of salmonid habitat and natural salmonid production upstream of
CVD. Water released from Lake Sonoma (the reservoir formed by the WSD) is also released for
flood control and water supply. The Don Clausen Fish Hatchery (DCFH) was built at the base of
WSD to mitigate for the loss of fish habitat and anadromous salmonid production in the upper
Dry Creek watershed. The operation and programmatic purpose of the hatchery has changed to a
more adaptive program since its inception. There have been operational changes towards
salmonid conservation and recovery to further mitigation goals and to fulfill the Corps’ '
obligation under Section 7 (2)(1) of the ESA. D1610 establishes minimum flow requirements for
both Dry Creek and the Russian River. Minimum stream flows under D161 are specified for
four different reaches in the Russian River watershed, assuring high enough summer flows to
meet the diversion requirements as well as river-based recreational uses.

In addition to the two major dams in the Russian River watershed, there are several smali storage
reservoirs, levees, temporary dams, and other elements of the system that contribute to

accomplishing the water supply and flood control goals of the Project and are discussed in
subsequent sections of this consultation.

Status of the Species and Critical Habitat
In this opinion, NMFS assessed the condition of each of the three listed salmonid species relative
to their extinction risk; we also describe the function and role of their respective critical habitats

for species conservation. The CCC coho salmon includes coastal populations in rivers entering
the ocean along the coasts of Mendocino, Sonoma, Marin, San Mateo and Santa Cruz counties.

Viii





The CCC steelhead includes populations ranging from those in the Russian River south to
streams in Santa Cruz County, plus populations in streams entering San Francisco Bay (e.g.,
Sonoma Creek, Napa River, Alameda Creek). CC Chinook salmon include populations of this
species in coastal streams ranging from the Russian River north to Humboldt County’s Redwood
Creek. Our assessment of the status of these species examined the viability (per the framework
described by McElhany et al. 2000} of populations in four to five distinct geographic areas
(termed diversity strata) that constitute each species. For this, we used the diversity strata
identified by Spence ef al. (2008).

Our assessment of extinction risk focuses on the viability of individual populations in each
diversity strata in order to appropriately apply the ESU viability criteria provided by Spence ef
al. (2008), which is the current definitive source for ESU viability evaluation. Spence ef al.
(2008) report that for an ESU or DPS to be viable, “representative”, “redundancy”, and
“connectivity” criteria must be met.

CCC coho salmon, which is listed as Endangered, faces the highest risk of extinction of the three
salmonid species considered in this opinion. This is evidenced by their precipitous decline in
abundance during the last several decades and poor status of population viability metrics
(abundance, population growth rates, spatial structure, and genetic diversity). Wild populations
of this species were extirpated in the nearby Salmon and Walker Creek watersheds; their
distribution has been very highly reduced in the Gualala watershed. The cause of this decline is
likely the widespread degradation of habitat, particularly those habitat attributes that support
freshwater rearing life stages. The loss of this habitat and the concurrent extirpation of local
populations have resulted in a high degree of isolation for the remaining populations.

CCC steelhead is listed as a Threatened Species. Its habitat is degraded throughout the Distinct
Population Segment, especially in the two diversity strata with streams bordering San Francisco
Bay. However, the diverse life-history strategies of steelhead have helped reduce this species’
extinction risk overall. For example, the highly variable time of instream residence (one year to
several years) and spawning age allow for effective temporal dispersal within a population. Also
individuals within this species are able to spawn in multiple years, unlike coho and Chinook
salmon which die shortly after spawning. CCC steelhead appears to be doing best 1n the more
coastal environments and seems more challenged, but persistent in the more inland and
urbanized areas. The overall extinction risk of this species is moderate.

The extinction risk for CC Chinook salmon, which is listed as a Threatened Species, 1s likely
intermediate between that of CCC coho salmon and CCC steelhead. Their habitat condition 18
somewhat better than for the other species mainly because their range lies well north of San
Francisco Bay and they do not occupy rearing habitats throughout the summmer when stream
flows can be very low or negligible. However, habitat degradation is still widespread and is
particularly an issue in the upper Eel River. Excluding the reduced returns in 2007, the
resurgence in abundance in the Russian River and in other southerly watersheds of this ESU
suggests favorable conditions not entirely explained by freshwater habitat analysis. In any case,
the more restricted life-history strategy compared to steelhead, relative spatial isolation of the
Russian River population, and habitat condition in the Eel River make the extinction risk for
CCC Chinook salmon higher than for CCC steelhead.

X





Environmental Baseline

The environmental baseline section provides the reference point for the listed species and their
hahbitats within the action area to which NMFS adds the effects of the proposed action. The
action area includes the Russian River and its tributaries downstream of WSD and CVD. This
large action area is necessary because of the need to address the impacts of straying hatchery fish
in the watershed. However apart from that issue, our effects analysis was primarily focused on:
1) the East Branch Russian River below CVD and the main stem Russian River from the
confluence of the East Branch to the river’s mouth at Jenner, 2) Dry Creek downstream of WSD,
and 3} areas of the Mark West Creek watershed that do not contain coho salmon, including Santa
Rosa Creek and its tributaries, and the Laguna de Santa Rosa. Because channel maintenance
activities in Zone 1A and other project actions were not proposed for portions of the Mark West
Creek watershed upstream of its largest tributary the Laguna de Santa Rosa, it was unnecessary
to focus on that portion of Zone 1A.

The environmental baseline includes the past and present impacts of all Federal, State, or private
actions and other human activities in the action area, the anticipated impacts of all proposed
Federal Projects that have already undergone consultation under Section 7 of the ESA, and the
impact of State or private actions which are contemporaneous with the consultation process. By
establishing the historical and current condition of the species and their habitat in the action area,
we describe those conditions to which the effects of the project under consultation are added in
our analysis of the project. Our ability to understand factors contributing to the baseline
condition is also important for predicting future baseline conditions and likely responses of
salmonids to the effects of the proposed action.

Urban, residential, and agricultural developments, timber harvest, road construction, water
supply and flood control management activities have had a collective adverse effect on the
quality and quantity of spawning, rearing, and migratory habitats for steelhead, coho salmon, and
Chinook salmon in the Russian River watershed. Prior to the construction in 1908 of the Potter
Valley Hydroelectric Project, which conveys water from the upper Eel River to the upper
Russian River, late summer flows in the Russian River were in the vicinity of 20 to 30 cfs. Now
with that project, the construction of Scott Dam on the Eel River, CVD, and WSD, the Russian
River sustains flows over 185 cfs throughout much of the mainstem and at least 125 cfs flows to
the ocean in most summers. Prior to these projects, the river’s estary likely closed during
summer months with a barrier beach that formed a large freshwater lagoon providing high
quality rearing habitat for steelhead and coho salmon.

Prior to European settiement, the mainstem Russian River was a dynamic meandering river
which migrated across its floodplain creating ox-bows and side sloughs. Most of the 110 miles
of mainstem and many hundreds of more miles in the tributaries were likely historically available
to salmonids for spawning and juvenile rearing (SEC 1996). Both the mainstem and tributaries
very likely had an abundance of large woody debris in the form of root wads and fallen logs that
created scour pools and provided cover and foraging sites for rearing salmonids (SEC 1996).
Summer flows were much lower in the mainstem; however, numerous deep pools likely stratified
and contained lower cooler layers. Stream channelization, road construction along stream





margins, bank stabilization, and water diversions in tributaries have significantly degraded
streamn habitats throughout the watershed by simplifying stream channels, isolating them from
their flood plains, greatly increasing sedimentation, blocking fish migrations, and reducing or
eliminating flow and cover.

Effects of the Proposed Action

Listed salmonids are adversely affected by operations for flood control at the two project dams,
by project flow releases for water supply, by the management of estuary water levels, by the
project related hatchery operations, and by channel maintenance activities in both the mainstem
and Russian River tributaries. We did not find significant impacts specific to the operations of
the small hydroelectric facilities at CVD and WSD.

Flood control releases at CVD have increased the duration of high flows that scour stream
substrates and salmonid spawning habitats in the segment of the mainstem Russian River
immediately downstream of the East Branch. In addition, the project’s proposed rates of flow
ramp down of 250 cfs/hr (when flows are 250-1000 cfs) and 1000 cfs/hr (when flows exceed
1000 cfs) likely cause both CC Chinook salmon and CCC steelhead fry and juveniles to be
stranded in isolated pools or beached in dewatered areas. The stranded fry and juveniles are
likely to experience higher rates of predation. Some fry and juveniles are likely to be stranded
in disconnected pool areas that may not become reconnected depending on flow regime,
resulting in the death of these fish. Pre-flood and five-year periodic inspections at CVD,
which are conducted during late summer, adversely affect juvenile steethead because the
Corps shuts off stream flow at CVD for about two hours with resulting loss of salmonid
rearing habitat in the East Branch and stranding of juvenile steelhead in the remaining isolated
pools. CVD is also known to release highly turbid water for extended periods well after
turbidity levels have diminished upstream of the mainstem’s confluence with the East Branch
and elsewhere in the river’s unregulated tributartes.

Flood operations at WSD likely cause minor scouring of spawning habitat in Dry Creek in the
three mile segment immediately below the dam. We estimate that 5 to 10% of the salmonid
redds constructed in this segment are likely to be scoured {i.e., lost) when WSD releases are
5000 cfs or greater. The proposed rates of ramp down for WSD flood control operations,
which are the same as above for CVD, are expected to cause stranding of fry and juvenile
salmon and steelhead in the three mile segment immediately below the dam. However, the
steep banks and lack of side channels in this segment are generally not conducive to high
stranding rates. The continuous 25 cfs minimum bypass flow at WSD will likely avoid
stranding and beaching of juveniie steelhead or coho salmon during annual pre-flood and five-
year periodic inspections.

Flood control operations at the dams will affect stream flows in Dry Creek and the main stem
during and shortly after heavy precipitation and runoff in winter or early spring. These
operations lmit peak flows by storing water in the reservoirs, after which the Corps releases
those waters downstream during an extended period when flood risk has abated.

X1





During winter and early spring, the dams generally have a relatively modest influence on stream
flow in the Russian River and Dry Creek because of the substantial, unregulated inflow from
numerous tributaries. However, during the low flow season (approximaiely late May through
October) releases from WSD and CVD for water supply significantly affect stream flow and
available rearing habitat for steelhead and coho salmon, which rear in freshwater habitats
throughout the summer months. The project’s proposed flow management at WSD and CVD
during late spring, summer, and fall has a clear adverse effect on the availability of rearing
habitat for steelhead in thel4.1 mile segment of Dry Creek, in 34 miles of the upper Russian
River, and in the river’s estuary. The project’s proposed flow management also adversely affects
the quality and quantity of rearing habitat and survival of juvenile coho salmon in Dry Creek.
Although the upper main stem Russian River and Dry Creek support good quality spawning
habitat for listed salmonid species, salmonid fry that emerge from the gravels of Dry Creek and
the upper Russian River will encounter imited suitable quality rearing habitats because much of
the stream areas have excessive current velocities. This will fead to increased mortality of
juvenile steelhead and coho salmon. The proposed flow regime will also affect the survival of
juvenile salmonids that emigrate downstream from tributaries into Dry Creek or the upper
Russian River. Juvenile Chinook salmon rear in freshwater only until late spring or early
summer when they then enter the ocean environment. For that reason, regulation of late spring
and summer flows has much less effect on rearing juvenile Chinook than the other two species.

Proposed project operations will likely have significant adverse effects on the Russian River’s
estuarine rearing habitat for each salmonid species. The proposed project will sustain high,
artificial inflows to the estuary during the low flow season and it will entail detrimental sandbar
breaching activities at the mouth that will significantly affect water quality in the lowermost
segment of the river. The artificial breaching creates a near marine environment, with shallow
depths and high salinity throughout most of the water column,; in some areas salinity
stratification contributes to low dissolved oxygen at the bottom. The combination of artificially
high flows entering the estuary during summer months and the proposed plan for breaching the
estuary mouth is likely to result in the loss of productive rearing habitat for small juvenile
salmonids at the mouth of the Russian River. This habitat is lost because the Russian River
estuary will not remain closed long enough to form a freshwater lagoon during the low flow
season in most years. This degradation of estuarine habitat will contribute to reduced survival
of juvenile salmonids that emigrate to the estuary.

SCWA and MCRRFCD propose to continue bank protection, including repair or replacement of
riprap, gravel bar grading, and vegetation maintenance on the main stem Russian River. Over
the course of the 15 year project, no more than 30,000 lineal feet of the Russian River will be
affected by channel maintenance activities. This represents about 6% of the entire Russian River
mainstem. Each county may work as much as 2000 feet of main stem channel per year, but
neither county may work on more than 15,000 feet of channel over the course of the 15 year
project. Sonoma County will also conduct channel maintenance within constructed flood control
channels and portions of natural waterways within Zone 1A (largely the Laguna de Santa Rosa
and Santa Rosa Creek watersheds). We conclude that channel maintenance in the Russian River
mainstern and Zone 1A will not appreciably degrade the value of critical habitat for listed
salmonid species. However, we estimate numbers of juvenile steelhead that will likely perish

xii





each year due to this maintenance activity. We also find that anticipated erosion control practices
along the banks of Dry Creek are likely to degrade rearing habitats for salmonids.

The Corps’ fish hatchery operations are required as mitigation for the loss of wild salmon and
steethead production due to construction of WSD and CVD. The hatchery program is currently
operated to rear and stock coho salmon and steelhead trout. The DCFH coho salmon mitigation
and enhancement program began in 1980; however, coho production at the facility was stopped
entirely in 1996, after failing to meet mitigation goals. In 2001, the Russian River Coho Salmon
Captive Broodstock Program (RRCSCBP) was initiated at DCFH to prevent extirpation of coho
salmon in the Russian River basin, preserve genetic, ecological, and behavioral attributes of
Russian River coho salmon while minimizing potential effects to other stocks and species, and to
reestablish self-sustaining runs of coho salmon in tributary streams within the Russian River
basin.

The RRCSCBP involves the collection of wild, juvenile coho salmon from Russian River
tributaries. The wild juveniles are reared to reproductive maturity and then artificially spawned
according to a genetic spawning matrix to maximize genetic diversity and avoid inbreeding.
Juvenile coho salmon produced from the captive broodstock are then released into several
Russian River tributaries as fry, where they rear, over-winter, migrate to the ocean, and then
return as adults to spawn naturally in the streams. Each year since 2001, the program has reared
and stocked coho salmon with lineage to wild juvenile coho salmaon collected in Russian River
tributaries. The RRCSCBP also includes an evaluation component, in which the survival of
stocked juvenile coho salmon and the subsequent adult returns to tributary streams are
monitored. At present, the genetics management and evaluation components (field monitoring)
of this program do not have long term funding commitments.

The proposed continuation of the captive broodstock program will have objectives and methods
similar to the existing RRCSCBP. The RRCSCBP is currently authorized under an ESA section
10(a)(1)(A) enhancement permit issued to CDFG, which acts as a contractor to the Corps for this
hatchery requirement. Since the effects of the RRCSCBP have already been evaluated and
covered by a permit, this program is not evaluated as part of the proposed action in this
biological opinion, but it is included in the Environmental Baseline of this biological opinion.
The lack of committed funding for the annual genetics management and field monitoring for the
program threatens the viability of this program. The lack of an emergency water supply line to
the DCFH also poses a significant threat to the RRCSCBP.

The steelhead hatchery program was not previously authorized under the ESA. That program
involves the spawning of several hundred adults, the rearing of fry and juveniles, and the annual
stocking of a combined total of about 500,000 steelhead smolts into Dry Creek and the upper
Russian River. Recent genetic information on Russian River steethead indicates that there are no
substantial genetic differences between wild and hatchery propagated steelhead in the basin,
Continued exclusion of wild steelhead from hatchery spawning stock could result in a divergent
haichery population with reduced genetic diversity and increased inbreeding. The stocking of
hatchery smolts may have some adverse effects to wild populations through their predation or
competition with wild fish. However, we believe those effects are relatively minor, because
hatchery fish are stocked only into Dry Creek and the East Branch (near the confluence with the

Xiit





upper main stem Russian River) when they are in & migratory stage and not acclimated to
survival in the wild, and most migrate within a few weeks (o the ocean. The hatchery program
also promotes a fishery for marked adult hatchery fish in the mainstem Russian River; that

fishery results in the capture (with barbless hooks) and release of wild steelhead, coho salmon,
and Chinocok salmon.

The principal effect of the water diversion facility at Mirabel Wohler is the loss of juvenile
salmonids that may become entrained through or impinged on the water intake screens. Some
minor loss of salmonids may also be caused by higher rates of predation from fishes (e.g., ptke

minnow, smallmouth bass) in the Wohler impoundment or from stranding when the inflatable
dam is inflated or deflated.

Integration and Synthesis

Project Effects on Critical Habitat

Because adult fall run CC Chinook salmon primarily migrate to spawning habitats during mid to
late fall and the resulting progeny migrate downstream to the ocean during the following spring,
fiow management at WSD and CVD does not have significant adverse consequences for this
species. Migrations of adult Chinook salmon appear to actually benefit from the elevated
regulated flows during fall months, and rearing juveniles do not contend with the artificially high
summer flows that limit available rearing habitat for the other Federally listed salmonid species.
Although channel maintenance activities will likely have some adverse effect on spawning and
rearing habitats for Chinook salmon, these effects will probably be minor because each year,
channel maintenance will affect only a small portion (less than 1 mile) of the 94 mile Jong main
stem Russian River. This 94 mile segment effectively supports rearing habitat for juvenile
Chinook salmon along its entire length and spawning habitat at riffles along the approximately
58 mile segment upstream from Healdsburg. Ongoing channel maintenance activities in Dry
Creek will likely diminish available rearing habitat for Chinook salmon; however, the extent of
habitat loss for rearing Chinook saimon in Dry Creek due to ongoing channel maintenance
activities is likely minor given the availability of rearing habitat for this species throughout the
main stem Russian River. We conclude that, if the proposed project is implemented, critical

habitat for Chinook salmon would remain functional to serve the intended conservation role for
this species.

In contrast to the findings for Chinook salmon, the proposed project will likely have significant
adverse effects on the critical habitat of steelhead and coho salmon. Because of these adverse
effects, critical habitat for steelhead and coho salmon would not be functional to serve the
intended conservation role for these species. Proposed flow releases from WSD and CVD
during the approximately six-month long, low flow season will create excessively high current
velocities that will greatly limit the vatue of 14 miles of Dry Creek and 34 miles of the upper
Russian River as rearing habitat for steelhead. Flow management at the project’s reservoirs and
breaching of the estuary’s bar will also adversely affect the value of steelhead rearing habitat in
and near the vicinity of the estuary. Flow releases from WSD during summer and fall months
will be so high that available habitat for rearing juvenile coho in Dry Creek will be minimal.
Proposed continued channel maintenance activities in Dry Creek will contribute to armoring the

xiy





stream banks, reducing velocity refuge areas for fishes during high flows, and simplifying stream
channel morphology with potential degradation of both summer and winter rearing habitats for
steelhead and coho salmon. The significance of these impacts to critical habitat for reanng
steelhead and coho salmon becomes apparent when the status of critical habitat for these species
is considered.

Our review of the status of populations of CCC steelhead in the Russian River indicate that
freshwater rearing habitat is one of the two primary types of critical habitat that are most
degraded. In the Russian River watershed and nearby watersheds, degradation of steelhead
rearing habitat is due to channel modifications, chronic deposition of fine sediments, and
intensive diversions of surface flow in tributaries. The restoration of viable populations of
steethead within these watersheds will depend upon the restoration of good quality freshwater
rearing habitats, including ecologically diverse habitats such as freshwater lagoons and deep
main stemn habitats for older age 1+ and 2+ fish, The restoration of viable populations of
Russian River stecthead would substantially improve the chances for the recovery of the CCC
steelhead DPS. However, as proposed, the project’s flow management plan (i.¢., conformance
with D1610, water supply releases, and water elevation management in the estuary) will hamper
efforts to recover this species by degrading and, in some cases, eliminating important freshwater
habitats in the Russian River.

Likewise, the availability of rearing habitat for coho salmon has been greatly reduced in the
Russian River watershed and elsewhere as the result of numerous developmental activities. Coho
salmon require especially cold water in which to rear, and developmental activities have
undoubtedly limited the availability of such coldwater habitats. As discussed in the Effects
Section, approximately 13 miles of Dry Creek provide temperatures that sustain reartng coho
salmon; however, high flow releases from WSD during summer and fall months greatly limit the
value of the PCE of critical habitat for rearing coho salmon. The proposed project operations
appreciably degrade the value of Dry Creek’s critical habitat for CCC coho salmon. Successful
recovery of this species will very likely require protection, restoration, and enhancement of
existing rearing habitats for this species. Given that the Russian River is the largest watershed
occupied by CCC coho salmon and that it is centrally located in this ESU, it is unlikely that the
CCC coho can be recovered without a successful restoration of coho salmon habitat and runs in
the Russian River.

FProject Effects on Species Survival and Recovery

We conclude that the proposed project operations are not likely to appreciably reduce the
likelihood of CC Chinook salmon survival and recovery in the Russian River. We conclude this
because the project is unlikely to reduce the abundance of spawners, the growth rate, spatial
structure, or genetic diversity of the Russian River population of Chinook salmon. We base this
finding on the following facts: 1) the population has experienced a generally positive growth
over the past ten years, 2) the project does not cause significant adverse effects to the species’
habitat, 3) the project will maintain the same freshwater conditions that have supported the
recent growth of the Chinook salmon population, and 4) the action does not impact the species in
such a way as to make it more vulnerable to other factors and environmental variation that are
outside the control of the action.

Xv





Unlike the situation for Chinook salmon, the proposed project will likely have substantial
adverse effects on both the coho salmon population and several steethead populations in the
Russian River watershed. The proposed flow management plan for CVD and WSD, the water
level management plan for the river’s estuary, and the ongoing channel maintenance activities in
Dry Creek substantially influence the abundance, growth rate, and spatial structhure of
populations of steelhead and coho salmon in the Russian River, As proposed, the flow
meanagement plan will perpetuate status quo flows that strongly influence habitat suitability while
the steelhead populations in the watershed experience negative growth trends due to other
diverse developmental activities throughout the watershed. Elevated inflows to the estuary, the
upper mainstem, and Dry Creek during the low flow season, and channel maintenance activities
will continue to suppress populations of steelhead in the basin and mnpair recovery processes;
instead populations of steelhead will likely continue to decline through degradation of habitats
stemming from status quo project operations and diverse non-project related activities. Given
that the Russian River supports nine steethead populations, including one functionally
independent population and six potentially independent steelhead populations, and that the
river’s populations span two of the five diversity strata {i.e., major groups of populations) within
the CCC steelhead, the survival and recovery of this DPS will likely depend on successful efforts
to increase the abundance, spatial structure, diversity, and growth rates of Russian River
steelhead populations. Likewise, given the central location of the Russian River in the range of
CCC coho and that the watershed represents a third of the ESU by area, the survival and
recovery of CCC coho salmon will likely depend on a substantial positive trend in the growth
rate and abundance of coho salmon in the Russian River. The coho population is appreciably
affected by the continued loss of juvenile coho that are likely displaced from Dry Creek due to
high summer flows that limit habitat availability and by the continued channel maintenance

practices that prohibit natural channel processes that create suitable rearing habitats for the
species,

Conclusions

After reviewing the best available scientific and commercial data, the current status of the
species, the environmental baseline for the action area, the effects of the proposed action, and the
cumulative effects, it is NMFS® biological opinion that the continued operations of CVD and
WSD for a fifteen year period in a manner similar to recent historic practices together with
SCWA’s proposed ongoing water diversions from the Russian River and its proposed stream
channel maintenance activities, estuary management, and hydroelectric project operations at
CVD and WSD are not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of threatened CC Chinook
Salmon. However, we find that the continued operations of CVD and WSD in a manner similar
to recent historic practices together with proposed Dry Creek stream channel maintenance

activities and estuary management are likely to jeopardize the continued existence of threatened
CCC steethead and endangered CCC coho salmon.

After reviewing the best available scientific and commercial data, the current status of the critical
habitat, the environmental baseline for the action area, the effects of the proposed action, and the
cumulative effects, it is NMFS biological opinion that the continued operations of CVD and
WSD for a fifteen year period in a manner similar to recent historic practices together with

Xvi





SCWA’s proposed stream channel maintenance activities and estuary management are likely to
adversely modify critical habitat for CCC coho salmon and CCC steelhead. It is NMFS opinion
that the proposed project is not likely to adversely modify critical habitat for CC Chinock
salmon,

Reasonable and Prudent Alternative

To avoid the likelihood of jeopardy to the species and adverse modification of critical habitat,
NMFS has collaborated with the Corps and SCWA in developing a Reasonable and Prudent
Alternative (RPA) for this project that is consistent with the intended purpose of the action, can
be implemented consistent with the legal authority and jurisdictions of the Corps and SCWA, is
economically and technologically feasible, and would avoid the likelihood of jeopardizing the
continued existence of listed species or the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.
This RPA involves implementation of the project as described in Section IIT of this biological
opinion, with modifications and additional actions as described in Section X.A of this opinion.
In smmmary, new or modified actions that will be part of the Russian River Water Supply and
Flood Control Project will include:

1. SCWA will petition the SWRCB to change minimum bypass flows identified ir D1610
for the mainstem Russian River and Dry Creek. SCWA will also complete all necessary
environmental documentation and other activities within its jurisdiction to promote
changes to D1610 minimum flow standards as identified in Section X.A.1

SCWA. will collaborate with NMFS and modify their estuary water level management in

order to reduce marine influence (i.e., high salinity and tidal inflow) in the estuary and

promote a higher water surface elevation in the estuary for purposes of enhancing the
quality of rearing habitat for age O+ and 1+ steethead. A program of potential
incremental steps is described to address this issue. These include adaptive management
of the outlet channel, investigation and possible elimination of impacts of the jetty at the
river’s mouth on lagoon formation, and alternative approaches to flood risk reduction

(e.g., elevating structures or other methods). SCWA will monitor the response of water

quality, invertebrate production, and salmonids in and near the estuary to water surface

elevation management in the estuary-lagoon system.

3. The Corps and SCWA will implement and monitor on-the-ground enhancements of
rearing habitat that will avoid adverse modification of critical habitat and appreciably
increase the survival of juvenile salmonids in Dry Creek during both summer and winter
months. To do this, SCWA will enhance the quality and quantity of pool habitat along
the 14 mile segment of Dry Creek and install boulder clusters to improve rearing habitat
for steelhead and coho salmon in Dry Creck. These enhancements, which will ameliorate
habitat conditions adversely affected by high summer flow releases, will be distributed at
several Jocations along Dry Creek and the timing of their installation will be staggered to
begin by Year 5 and be completed by Year 12. Because the initial design, permitting,
and construction of this work will take up to five years to complete, SCWA will also
restore or otherwise enhance rearing habitat for salmonids in tributaries that enter Dry
Creek downstream of WSD or other Russian River tributaries supporting coho salmon
and steelhead by the end of Year 3 covered by this opinion. The Corps will assist the

=)

xvil





SCWA in promoting enhancements of winter high flow refuge habitat for rearing coho
and steelhead in Dry Creek.

SCWA will investigate the feasibility of constructing a pipeline to deliver water from
Lake Sonorma to the mainstem of the Russian River in order to reduce the adverse effects
of relatively high flow releases from WSD on rearing habitat for coho salmon and
steelhead. An assessment of bypass pipeline alternatives will enable SCWA to identify
the best method to ensure water deliveries while meeting salmonid habitat needs in Dry
Creek in the unlikely event that habitat enhancement efforts in Dry Creek are
unsuccessful in supporting successful growth and survival of juvenile steethead and coho
salmon.

The Corps will sirengthen the Russian River Coho Salmon Captive Broodstock Program
(RRCSCBP) by conducting needed 1) annual genetics analysis and 2) annual monitoring
of the distribution and survival of stocked juvenile salmon and the subsequent return of
adult coho to the Russian River.

SCWA will fund the implementation of an expansion of the RRCSCBP to include the
annual rearing and stocking of 10,000 coho smolts genetically managed via the wild coho
broodstock program.

The Corps will install a new back-up water supply pipeline to the Warm Springs
Hatchery, and complete construction of additional rearing facilities for the coho salmon
broodstock program.

Consistent with recent historic monitoring efforts, SCWA will annually monitor the
upstream migration of adult salmonids at the Mirabel Dam between late August and late
fall, and they will annually monitor downstream migration of juvenile salmonids past the
Mirabel Dam during spring and early summer for 15 years.

Incidental Take Statement

This biological opinion provides an Incidental Take Statement for the taking of listed salmonids
that is likely to occur due to the implementation of the proposed action and RPA for this project.
Under the terms of section 7(b)(4) and section 7(0)(2), the identified incidental take is not
considered to be prohibited taking under the ESA, provided that it is in compliance with the
Terms and Conditions included with the incidental take statement.

Key terms and conditions include:

1.

2

The Corps will initiate a study, complete a feasibility report, and then construct a low
flow bypass pipe at the CVD by October 1, 2013.

. The Corps will conduct a field study to investigate potential alternative ramp down

criteria for flood control releases to try and minimize stranding downstream from CVD.

The Corps will adjust ramping rates to minimize impacts to fisheries if they will allow
flood control to be maintained.

. The Corps will conduct studies to investigate the effects of CVD and WSD operations on

turbidity in the Russian River. If turbidity from CVD or WSD is adversely affecting
fisted saimonids, the Corps shall complete and begin implementation of a plan to
nunimize and avoid these adverse effects by no later than 2014,

¥viil





iLn

The Corps, SCWA, MCRRFCD or their designees shall ensure that relocation of
salmonids from in-channel flood contro! work areas is accomplished by means that
minimize harm and mortalities of listed salmonids.

SCWA shall complete design of the new fish screen at Mirabel within three years of the
issuance of this biological opinion, and replace the fish screen within three years after
completion of the design. Also within three years of the issuance of this opinion, SCWA
shall decommission or modify the infiltration ponds on the East side of the Russian River
at the Mirabel/Wohler facility to prevent fish entrapment in these ponds during flood
evenis.

For the next fifteen years, the Corps will conduct genetic management and genetic
assessment of the DCFF and CVFF steejhead programs.

SCWA shall undertake measures to ensure that injury and mortality to listed salmonids
resulting from fish monitoring at Mirabel dam, in the estuary, and in Dry Creek are low.
SCWA will undertake measures to ensure that harm and mortality to listed salmonids
from adaptive management of the sandbar at the mouth of the Russian River are low.

X%






TO: Board of Directors AGENDA NQ. V-B

FROM: Steve Mack, General Manager

Meeting Date: December 4, 2008

Subject: Board Election of Officers

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consider postponing elections until January meeting
FISCAL IMPACT: none
DISCUSSION:

At the November meeting the Board informally decided to have Board
elections in January because our new Boardmember, Jim Quigley, will not be
an official member until after the December meeting and, thus, would not be
able to vote on the officers with whom he would be working for the next year,
if the elections were held at that meeting. District policy states: "5000.50
Annual Organizational Meeting: The Board of Directors .... shall hold an
annual organizational meeting at its regular meeting in December. At this
‘meeting the Board will elect a President, Vice President and Financial
Coordinator from among its members to serve during the coming calendar
year."

At our last meeting the Board took no formal action on this item and, as
noted above, official policy is to have the elections at the December meeting.
It is also reasonable to have elections at a time when all Boardmembers for
the coming year are eligible to vote.

Because of the policy, Board election of officers has been placed on the
agenda. If a majority of the Board wishes to postpone the elections until the
January 2009 meeting, a motion to that effect can be made, seconded, and
approved, and in this way we will be complying with the District Policies and
Procedures.






SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DISTRIC

Gl

TO: Board of Directors AGENDA NO. V-C

FROM: Steve Mack, General Manager

Meeting Date: December 4, 2008

Subject: PROPOSED WATER RATES REVISION

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Water Rates for public presentations.
FISCAL IMPACT: None

DISCUSSION:

The Board has been studying the District’s water rates structure with the intent
of approving rates that are more equitable to all customer classes. To that end
the Board commissioned a water rate study by Brelje and Race which was
completed in January 2007. Since that time the Board has done additional
review to determine the best course of action. With the advent of a new General
Manager to provide additional review, adjust the rates to fit with current financial
conditions, and provide public outreach to affected groups, the Board has given
general direction to have the new rate structure in place for the next fiscal year
(July 2009). At the November 2008 meeting the Board was presented with a
progress report that included:

Status of the Income Model

Review of basic rate structure recommendations

Recommendation that commercial meter surcharge not be included
Recommendation that Capital Debt Reduction Charge (CDRC) be increased
to include one third of recent private placement loan interest payments.

Questions that came up at the November meeting included:

« How do we capture developer "make-up" fees? According to
requirements of Ordinance 18, in 2008 new connections pay $3,420 per
meter to buy into the system, in addition to charges for the time and
materials for the actual physical connection. This charge increases by
$245 every year, It was established to recapture costs for the original
bonds approved to purchase the District facilities and upgrade
infrastructure. It is not adjusted for meter size nor does it recapture
the loans paid for with the Capital Debt Reduction Charge.





PROPOSED WATER RATES REVISION : 2
December 4, 2008

e What is the District's definition of multi-family customer class? District
Policy 3060.70:..A dwelling subject to the multi-unit charge shall
include, but not be limited to, each residential unit in addition to the
primary unit containing cooking, sleeping and sanitation facilities, or a
separately metered electrical service, whether attached to, or detached
from the primary unit. Trailer/mobile home spaces rented out on a
year-round basis shall also be subject to the multi-unit charges.
Specifically exempted are those units subject to the transient
occupancy tax.

e Show ranges of water use for the various customer classes in the
figures. I will include this information in my PowerPoint presentation.
Table 1 below presents in tabular form the bimonthiy water use
statistics for the past year for most customer classes.

Table 1. Bimonthly Water Use Statistics for Sweetwater Springs Water District Customer

Classes, October 2007- September 2008 (100 cubic feet (Units)
SFR MFR <6, Number of Dwelling Uniis Commercial, Meter Size (in)
2 3 4 5 5/8 1 1.5 2
Median 7 12 18 22 33.5 15 47 192 174
Average 10.4 15.5 291 259 39.1 33 78 190 257
25% 2 7 10 14.3 258 3 24 93 22
75% 13 20 31 35.8 49.3 44 103 289 478
90% 22 31 51.7 47 80 82 200 309 584
. Number
of
Accounts 3,082 252 44 18 5] 132 12 1 9

Since the November 2008 meeting I have used the income model to evaluate
the preliminary recommendations presented at that meeting and various
water usage charge alternatives available to the District. That evaluation
supports the recommendations in fast month’s presentation. One addition
that I would like to present in this agenda report and discuss at the meeting
is the continuation of four tiers in the water usage rate (the Rate Study
recommended three tiers and the rates presented last month followed that
recommendation).

One of the issues in the review of District rates was that several commercial
customers are using water in excess of the recommended flow rates for the
meters they have. One approach to resolve that is to require those
customers to increase the size of their meters. Another approach is to use
water use pricing to encourage proper meter size. This can be done by






PROPOSED WATER RATES REVISION 3
December 4, 2008

having a fourth tier appropriately placed to penalized excessive use when
compared to meter size. Using this approach, excessive water use for a
smaller meter size will result in higher total water costs when compared to
the total cost of water for the same water use when using (and being charged
for) a larger meter. The analysis I have done indicates that having a 4% tier
at 80 units for a 5/8 inch meter achieves the desired effect. I will
demonstrate how this works in my PowerPoint presentation at the Board
meeting.

Table 2 shows the recommended rates that update the Rate Study Summary
Report recommendations for current conditions. Analysis by the District’s
income model show that these rates generate the appropriate amount of
revenue to fund District operations and capital projects in Fiscal Year 2009~
2010 and are the rates that would be used for the public outreach needed to
inform the District customers about the changed rate structure. The District
will still need to go through the budget process and the Board will need to
approve the Fiscal Year 2009-2010 budget prior to these rates, or any other
water rates different what is currently approved, going into effect, including a
public hearing on the proposed rates in the Spring of 2009.

The major features of the rate structure include:

¢ The Base Rate for Commercial and Public customers is based on AWWA
flow standards.

» Multifamily accounts havé a 0.55 multiplier for extra units.

e The Capital Debt Reduction Charge is based on meter size.

¢« The CDRC is increased to reflect costs of private placement loan.
e The Flat Charge does not change.

s Water Usage charges retain four tiers

» The meter muitiplier and multifamily multiplier adjust the tiers for those
accounts,

Upon approval by the Board I will proceed with public presentations based on
the PowerPoint presentation given to the Board at the December 4, 2008
meeting.





| PROPOSED WATER RATES REVISION
December 4, 2008

Table 2. Proposed Sweetwater Springs Water District Rates for 2009-10

Capital Debt
Reduction
Base Rate Water Usage Rate Charge
Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 4
1.15 $2.30 $3.45 $5.00
Max Max Max Max
Meter Usage Usage Usage Usage
Size (in) (Hef) {Hcf) {HchH {Hcf)
0.625 $50.00 8 20 80 >80 3 9.70
1 $125.00 20 50 200 >200 3 24.25
1.5 $250.00 40 100 400 >400 $ 48.50
2 3400.00 64 160 640 >640 3 77.60







G
SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DISTRICT AL

T0: Board of Directors AGENDA NO. V-D

FROM: Steve Mack, General Manager

Meeting Date: December 4, 2008

Subject: FLUORIDATION INFORMATION

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive information on fluoridation of public water

supplies
FISCAL IMPACT: None

DISCUSSION:

At the November 2008 meeting a request was made to have information on
fluoridation of public water supplies presented at the December 2008 meeting.
Attached is an article from the Santa Rosa Press Democrat reporting on a
Sonoma County Supervisors debate forum prior to the recent elections that
reported on the candidates positions on fluoridation - most were in favor,

The Internet has a wealth of information on fluoridation. Below are two
examples of what one may find:

From the California Department of Public Health:

Fluoride is one of the most plentiful elements on earth, and occurs naturally
in water supplies throughout California and elsewhere. When fluoride is
present in drinking water at optimal levels, it has been shown to promote oral
health by preventing tooth decay. Water systems are considered naturally
fluoridated when the natural level of fluoride is greater than 0.7 parts per
million (ppm). When a water system adjusts the level of fluoride to 0.7-1.2
ppm it is referred to as water fluoridation. Today, about 67 percent of the
U.S. population on public water supplies has access to fluoridated water.

Benefits of Fluoridation

o Water fluoridation ranks as one of ten great public health achievements
of the 20th century according to the Surgeon General 2000.





FLUORIDATION INFORMATION 2
December 4, 2008

All drinking water naturally contains some fluoride. Community water
fluoridation is the process of adjusting the naturally occurring fluoride
level to the optimum level for preventing tooth decay.

Adults, as well as children, benefit from drinking fluoridated water
throughout their lives.

More than half (62%) of the U.S. popuiation live in communities served
by fluoridated water supplies.

Community water fluoridation has the endorsement of every major health
organization in the United States and many other countries, as well as every
Surgeon General for the past 50 years.

The concentration of fluoride in community drinking water is controlled within plus
or minus 0.1 parts per million and represents no health hazards.

Every $1 spent on fluoridation saves $38 in dental treatment costs.

Websites that support fluoridation and provide information:

American Dental Association -www.ada.org/public/topics/fluoride/facts

California Department of Health Services -
www.cdph.ca.gov/CERTLIC/DRINKINGWATER/Pages/Fluoridation.aspx

Center for Disease Control - www.cdc.gov/nohss/quideFL.htm

North Coast Fluoride Information Network - www. fluorideinfo.org

There's a contrary view -

Any purported benefits of fluoridation are in scientific controversy.
Studies from 50 years ago do not pass muster under today's standards
for safety or effectiveness. Research from the same era also "proved"
cigarettes don't cause cancer,

The fluoride used for water fluoridation does not have FDA approval
and is considered by the FDA as an "unapproved drug". The proper use
of any drug requires an understanding of how much is too much. Since
fluoride is already in many foods and beverages, an estimated total
intake of existing fluoride amounts is imperative. Research shows
fluoridation is unnecessary since we're already receiving 300% or more
of the American Dental Association's recommended daily amount,

Constitutional and Civil liberty issues regarding the forced mass
medication of the population when alternative means of reducing
cavities are easily available, such as tooth brushing. Even so-called





FLUORIDATION INFORMATION 3
December 4, 2008

mandatory school immunizations provide exemptions for parents who
wish not to participate.

« The chemicals used for fluoridation are not high purity, pharmaceutical
quality products. Rather they are byproducts of aluminum and fertilizer
manufacturing and contain a high concentration of toxins and heavy
metals such as arsenic, lead and chromium. All proven to be carcinogens.

Source: http://www.nofluoride.com/

The Department of Public Health lists over 250 water agencies that provide
fluoridated water. In Sonoma County, the City of Healdsburg adds fluoride to its
water and a small water system called Sonoma County #41 Fitch Mountain
receives fluoridated water from the City of Healdsburg. The optimum level that
the City of Healdsburg targets is 0.8 mg/L. Sweetwater Springs Water District
raw water samples have naturally occurring fluoride in the range of 0.2 mg/L.

The California Legislature passed Assembly Bill 733 in 1995, requiring
fluoridation for all communities with water systems having at least 25,000
people, if funding is provided. The District is below that threshold but might be
able to tap into the funding mechanism, if we so desire. Fluoridation by the
District would require two fluoride injection stations for the Guerneville and
Monte Rio systems. The cost for such a setup is unknown but because grant
funding would likely be available, the cost to the District for the capital
improvements would be minimal. The raw material for fluoride injection is a
hazardous material and requires special handling. Annual costs for the material
is also unknown but is not expected to be a significant added cost. Grant
funding is probably not be available for ongoing operations.





FLUORIDATION INFORMATION . 4
December 4, 2008

Supervisor hopefuls debate kids' needs

By BLEYS W. ROSE
THE PRESS DEMOCRAT

Published: Thursday, October 16, 2008 at 4:42 am.
Last Modtfied: Thursday, October 16, 2008 at 5:02 p.m.

In the campaign's most tightly focused debate, six candidates for three seats on the Sonoma
County Board of Supervisors on Wednesday addressed children’s issues ranging from gangs to
obesity and tooth decay.

The two-hour session sponsored by the Sonoma County Child Abuse Prevention Council attracted
about 60 people representing about 100 nonprofit agencies that deal with youth.

"A measure of our community is how our children are doing," said Robin Bowen, executive
director of the California Parenting Institute.

By that yardstick, most of the candidates at the forum held at the county library in downtown
Santa Rosa said county government could do better.

Most agreed that fluoride should be added to the water supply to help prevent tooth decay. Rue
Furch and Efren Carrillo, candidates in the 5th District, were in favor. In the 3rd District race,
Sharon Wright agreed, and her challenger. Shirlee Zane, said her study of fluoride's health
benefits caused her to change her position from undecided to support.

However. Will Pier, candidate in the 1st District, said he preferred that the water asency dispense
fluoride tablets. Valerie Brown. incumbent in the 1st District, had left the debate for another
commitment. but has previously said she is undecided until the public health department reports
on Healdsburg's experience with fluoride. {underiining added, sm)







TO: Board of Directors AGENDA NO. V-E

FROM: Steve Mack, General Manager

Meeting Date: December 4, 2008

Subject: CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN INTRODUCTION

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive a report on the Capital Improvement Plan.
FISCAL IMPACT: none
DISCUSSION:

Capital improvements are an important element of the District’s work effort.
The District has an aging infrastructure, an unacceptable amount of unaccounted
for water and District staff spend too much time reacting to leaks in the
distribution system. Currently, the District is constructing CIP IV-A Project 1 and
has CIP IV-A Praject 2 in design with the intent of going to construction in the
spring. This report is a part of the ongoing effort to keep the capital
improvement effort moving forward.

Attached is Table 1. Sweetwater Springs Water District Capital Improvement
Projects. This is a list of projects that has been developed over time and
updated. The purpose of presenting this list at the December meeting is to
introduce and make public staff’s current thinking on the most important
capital projects and a general priority listing of when these projects might be
completed. With Board approval, our intention is to have additional staff
discussions on these projects and meet with Brelje and Race engineers for
further refinement of the projects. At the January meeting the refined list will
be presented to the Board for its approval.

The Capital Improvement Plan will be updated on an annual basis to reflect
changing conditions.





CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2
December 4, 2008

Table 1. SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DISTRICT
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS
(November 25, 2008)
Cost for projects were estimated in 2005 by B&R Engineering,
unless otherwise noted.

A. FY 2010 - CIPPHASEIV-B
Distribution Storage Tank Construction
FY 2011 Capital Projects

Project Description: Estimated
Cost:
1. Upper Summit Tank (Mc Lane Avenue) - Construct a $490,000

storage tank with a nominal capacity of approximately
120,000 gallons at the District ~ owned site on Mclane
Avenue. Project to include relocation/ construction of the
existing hydro-pneumatic pump station that currently
serves the highest connections in the Summit Service
Zone,

2. School House Tank (Monte Rio) ~ Construct a $ 400,000
storage tank with a nominal capacity of approximately
60,000 gallons at the top of Bonita Terrace. Exact
location of tank, and pumping system details have not
been completed at this time, The majority of distribution
piping will be in place in 2009 after the completion of
CIP-PHASE IV-A, PROJECT 2.

3. Schoeneman Tank Replacement (GV) -~ Replace the $ 127,000
existing 10,00 gallon tank with a 30,000 gallom storage
tank.

4, NatomaTank Replacement {GV) - Replace the $ 190,000

existing 10,000 gallon storage tank with a 30,000
storage tank.

B. Distribution System Pipe Replacement Projects
(All new mains are 6-inch, unless otherwise mentioned)

1. Riverlands Road (GV) - Replace 1,600 If of existing $287,000
main and appurtenances in Riverlands Road, including two
ties at Drake Road to create a loop.

2. Handy Andy Booster Feed Line (GV) — Replace 200 If $35,000
of existing main between Hwy 116 and the booster pump at
Old Monte Rio Road. *This was originally slated to be
part of a much larger project (See project # 8 on this list.)
The coriginal project has now been divided into two projects
with cost estimates adjusted accordingly.






CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 3
December 4, 2008

3. Alder Road, Pebble Way, & Heller Streets (MR) —
Abandon 4,500 If of parallel undersized water mains and
transfer water services to larger main; and on River Blvd,
Alder Rd., Willow Rd., and Railroad Ave. - Replace existing
mains and appurtenances with approximately 5,800 If of 6-
inch water main, to compiete loop.

$1,026,000

4. Western, Eastern and Northern Avenues and
Grchard Lane (GV) - Replace 3,000 If of existing main
and appurtenances.
*This is outside of the Russian River Redevelopment
boundary.

$633,000

5. Foothill Drive (MR) ~ Install 1,000 If of new 8 - inch

main and appurtenances from B Street northwesterly to end
of existing 8 - inch main and make connection to other side
of Foothill where section of road is closed to through traffic.

$181,000

6. Guernewood Lane (GV) - Replace 1,600 If of existing
main and appurtenances and abandon 200 If of redundant 4
- inch main along Hwy 116.

$247,000

7. Canyon Seven Rd (GV) - Eliminate dead end mains
and create loops by installing 1,900 If of new main and
appurtenances in Canyon Seven Rd between Sequoia Rd
and Paradise Ln.

$234,000

8. Old Monte Rio Road (GV) ~ Replace 4,800 If of
existing main and appurtenances commencing at the Handy
Andy Booster and proceeding westerly.
*This was originally slated to include a much smaller
project.(See project # 2 on this list.) The original
project has now been divided into two projects with
cost estimates adjusted accordingly.

$690,000

9. Hidden Valley Rd (GV) - Replace 2,000 If of existing
main and appurtenances between Cherry St and West
Hidden Valley Rd.

$373,000

Table 2. Possible Distribution Project Combinations

Fiscal Year Projects

Total Cost
Estimate

2012 20w 1. Riverlands Road (GV)

' 2. Handy Andy Booster Feed Line (GV)
4. Western, Eastern and Northern
Avenues and Orchard Lane (GV)
5. Foothill Drive (MR)
6. Guernewood Lane (GV)
/. Canyon Seven Rd (GV)

$984,000

M;‘B\V 3. Alder Road, Pebble Way, & Heller
Streets (MR)

$1,026,000

2_044/31;5} 8. Old Monte Rio Road (GV)

$1,063,000

9. Hidden Valley Rd (GV)







TO: Board of Directors AGENDA NO. V-F
FROM: Steve Mack, General Manager

Meeting Date: December 4, 2008

Subject: LEASE WITH CRYSTAL COMMUNICATIONS FOR USE OF THE MOUNT
JACKSON RADIO SITE

RECOMMENDED ACTION: This item will be pulled from the Agenda at the
Board meeting. We are still waiting for a final response from Crystal
Communications.






Resolution No. 08-21

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DISTRICT EXPRESSING
APPRECIATION FOR THE SERVICES OF
DIRECTOR SUSAN KEACH AS BOARD MEMBER

UWHEREAS, Susan has been an active Board member since December of 2006; and

UWHEREAS, Susan fias been an example of service to this community, and has further
dedicated considerable time and energy to improving the Sweetwater Springs Water District; and

WHEREAS, she has always discharged her duties as Board Member and Vice President of
the District in a fair and compassionate manner; and

WHERFEAS, she has additionally been actively invofved in the development of goals and
objectives for the Mistrict and otherwise important in Reeping a positive, forward-looking spirit at
Board meetings; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors wish to recognize Susan for her two years of dedicated

service.

NOW, THEREFORE, ®E IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the
SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DISTRICT, Sonoma County, California, that:

1 Susan Keach be commended for fer dedication and commitment to the affairs of the
District during fer tenure as a Board Member, and for the outstanding job she fas done during fer term as
a Board Member.

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full true, and correct copy of a Resolution duly and regularly
adopted and passed by the Board of Directors of the SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DISTRICT,
Sonoma County, California, at a meeting field on December 4, 2008 by the following vote.

7
APPROVED: Wanda Smith, ‘-’ft/ﬁ{fﬁ Lt ‘@éﬂ "”’f?i/’} N
Victonia Wﬁ,&r : P‘/,./Z/ A‘%?”ugf,— t’:&". Lot

ga_yforJ Y Cﬁﬂdp, f_;‘mf i‘; ,5,,/ Qgﬁ;/gﬂ%
y

Ken MclLean
ATTEST: %6) 7%"“1

]ul{éﬂ Kenny, Clerk of the ?éam!’ Stephen Mack, General Manager







=3

4,
Ly

SWEETWATER SPRINGS WATER DISTRICT

TO: Board of Directors AGENDA NO. VI

FROM: Steve Mack, General Manager

Meeting Date: December 4, 2008

Subject: General Manager’s Report

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report from the General Manager.
FISCAL IMPACT: None

DISCUSSION:

1. Laboratory Testing: Water quality tests confirm that all SSWD
water meets all known State and Federal water quality standards.

2. Water Production and Sales: Water sales in October were 25,746
units (59.1 AF) and production was 81.1 AF. This is a drop since last
month which is normal because we are moving out of the summer
peak season and we have had some rain. The attached Figure 1
shows the 12 month moving averages since 2001.

3. Leaks: The District spends much staff time addressing leaks and we
have an extensive capital program to replace water mains. In
October we had 21 total leaks and spent 115 man hours on them.
Figure 2 shows leak history and man-hours spent dealing with leaks
since 2001.

4. CIP Phase IV-A: CIP Phase IV-A, Project 1 started on November 12
with work on Monte Cristo Avenue. The contractor is approximately
half done with that element. Riverside Drive will be the next place of
work.





General Manager’s Report 20f2
December 4, 2008

Breaks

Sales and Production {AF)

Figure 1. Water Production and Sales 12 Month Moving Average
Sweetwater Springs Water District

E —#—; Sales
—O—Produchon P
%D;fference

May- Nov-01 May- Nov-02 May- Nov-03 May- Nowv-04 May- Now-05 May- Nov-06 May- Nov-07 May-
0] 02 03 04 05 06 G7 08

Figure 2. Sweetwater Springs Water District Total Pipeline Breaks
and Hours Spent in Repair, Moving Annual Average

) | —3#— Total Breaks ;
0 Lirear (Tolal Hours}) | 3.000
= = - Linear {Total Breaks) '
350 - 2,500
2,000
250
1,500
200
150 "1 4,000
100 -
- 500
50

Q\«Q\Q@wm@@@(}v@ v:@gc:@g@@q;«'\'\@@

\ \ &
Qe o \90@ & 0@0 & ocbo oF cq'oa & ﬁge"vsz -)QQQ:Q?S! \:906"‘?9 @Q

40.0%

1 35.0%
1 30.0%
1 25.0%
- 20.0%
L 1s.0%
L 100%

“ 5.0%

0.0%

Hours

Difference (%)





50~ GHey SSAI0IG0) PUe 5(ED5 JBDEULY [BioudD pug piecd
TT-Afir Spug asesF] -
e . asesy buipng
OT-aun{ VRGO pug  « B
60-9UAT JEIS SUDRE0bDaN  »
. BO-BY e384 uopeiedald sUOienobsy 815 «
"~ suonenoban 1Penuid
&ééd GO/TE LOGST
i Bupodug ssalboly 'puuRd GASS S0 UOSUBIRG -
&‘&.m. L60/TT LOHEePag $anebsn |
BUIOBUGT JI3I8M 12D Wity SIUBLE J3IEM JO JDJSURLE =
JU-IBGWAAON | SBINANDY SYDYY 1918 U0 L0daY STIEIS  «
— v MH—MG_@ Lﬂumg
. § Q1-1300120 pajRdulo] YoPINAsUoD g-A 95RUG 41D+
o1-judv 532635 UD[THI35007) BAL ¥Seuddi | <
Q-AL 35%Ud 41D 104 SIUEYRSUDD JuBiuabeue)y
60-ANE Buzesuibuy pue ubissg PRRS .
S— - Shé — g0-Menigsy B-AL 410 10; D0UuA  #
Ccﬁu&.\.ca_mwﬂummﬂ
.. 5 80-Aleniqay | pieog 40) g-Al BSRUG 41D 4O UONEIRSTYY  »
go-menuep 9-A1 95844 d1 10 JualudBeadpg mbag —v T
GO-12Q07120 CDB@F—EGU Fa au...wzﬂ_ugw .df.)m a1 -
. . i 60- iy TS UBIDNIEU0D ¢ 179l00d YAl d1J *
§o-Bquiszag WOHde] T 12el0id V-AT 41
N spaleid [@ndes
B0- AdLY Jabprig sAoIddy .
UOII Y /UGS aNIsI0]
i, - S B0-idy 40j pieog 0] 1@bpng yedg -
UBRAOEY
A H-Azmnues pieog J0j veld Juswaaoidw jende] .
e UGISEN5s1g
BO-IROUBG paeog 10 UB|S JUBWDRACIAWY E)ERD .
uoneiedosd 3abpng GT-8507
[ e - AR sabpig Ui 5938y jdopy =
B0~ AR ESIEY pesadnag un BUNRSE SiGAd T
B- G308 Buniely g1z doid  +
[T
FO-Adenzqsd Yils SUDHBIUSSD [N JO MBADY =
; SO AIBAUBE 5356 POSIADY JO SU0IeIUHSdIg JGhd e
gH-iSgumTag B UoiEIGESEL piedy T}
RERSTERETN
. §O-laguIadag G0 pue ‘Ppo] S0ou] ‘saley Isiay -
- B Rh-edody PIEOg Uiiih UDISSNOSIG 5MIETS + }
UBISIASY 5816y ITBAL
GO- U LIGAGNR D5EY] SUCHEDIRLG G 215410
ayeq
LTI
Juenpjduwiosy
peirsioid BU0YSI | AUB]] HOHSY
Kingsy Ag
H
- SN S TRFUOR SIS
............ s N - o o AAARTY B
vibe § OW0E ] 80560 | Bg-en [ 600 | SGUSETT BOTEAV RO | egrunt | B0-AA a0y | e E0E S T B0V | B0-56d | E0veN | 8090 T3y iieg SUPHGIED G SBUIHE myemisoms F S1geL

. . 8007 ‘v 42quWiada(
€40 ¢ woday s, 4abeuey [eiousg





